
A
M

TE Pow
er p

lc | A
nnua

l rep
ort a

nd
 a

ccounts 2022

Powering the  
energy transition
AMTE Power plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Denchi House
Thurso Business Park
Thurso
Caithness
KW14 7XW
(0) 1847 867200

www.amtepower.com 
hello@amtepower.com



1 2 3 4Other information

101AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2022

CBP016059

AMTE Power plc’s commitment to environmental issues is 
reflected in this Annual Report, which has been printed on 
Amadeus Silk, a paper sourced from well managed, responsible, 
FSC certified forests and other controlled sources. The pulp used 
in this product is bleached using an elemental chlorine free (ECF) 
process. The print factory is FSC accredited and has the 
Environmental ISO 14001 accreditation. Printed by Perivan

Electrifying vehicles, 
homes and industries 
for a net zero world.

Powering the  
energy transition

Strategic report
1 About us
2 Financial and operational highlights
3 At a glance
4 Outlook
5 Investment case
6 Chair’s statement
8 Market overview
11 Business model
12 CEO’s review
16 Strategic pillars
18 Sustainability
22 Product review
24 Risk management and principal risks
26 Stakeholder engagement/Section 172
28 Financial review

Governance
29 Board of Directors
33 Corporate governance report
37 Audit and risk committee report
39 Remuneration committee report
40 Directors’ report

Financial statements
43  Independent auditor’s report to the members
49  Group statement of comprehensive income
50 Group statement of financial position 
52 Company statement of financial position
54 Group statement of changes in equity
55 Company statement of changes in equity
56 Group statement of cash flows
58  Notes to the Group financial statements

Other information
101 Group information

Contents

Group information

Directors 
David Morgan (Chair)
Alan Hollis (CEO)
James Hobson (CFO) 
Anita Breslin (Director)
Kevin Brundish (Strategic Director)
Adam Westcott (Director)
Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC  
(Senior Independent Director)
Adam Park (NED)
Alyson Levett (NED)

Company Secretary
Vistra Company Secretaries Limited 
First Floor  
10 Temple Back  
Bristol BS1 6FL 

AIM Nominated Adviser and Joint Broker
WH Ireland Limited
24 Martin Lane 
London EC4R 0DR

Joint Broker
Panmure Gordon
One New Change 
London EC4M 9AF

Registered Office
Suite 1, 3rd Floor  
11-12 St James’s Square 
London SW1Y 4LB

Principal Place of Business
Denchi House  
Thurso Business Park  
Thurso  
Caithness KW14 7XW

Auditors
Saffery Champness LLP
Westpoint 
Peterborough Business Park 
Lynch Wood 
Peterborough 
PE2 6FZ

Solicitors
Osborne Clarke LLP
One London Wall 
London EC2Y 5EB

Registrars
Neville Registrars Limited
Neville House 
Halesowen 
West Midlands B62 8HD



Our purpose 
is to power a cleaner global future through the supply of 

innovative battery products 

Our vision 
is to become a large volume manufacturer of our core 

products for global markets 

Our mission 
is to meet the challenges of technically advanced markets 
where superior cell performance and a secure supply base 

is a primary customer requirement
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Continued progress on the journey to commercialisation

Financial Highlights
	› Turnover of £2.2m (2021: £2.0m).

	› Completed a successful raise of £5m through an 
unsecured convertible loan.

	› IPO funds have enabled the business to transition from 
predominantly production development to securing 
MoUs associated with supply of product, and the 
Company has focussed it’s expansion plans on a 
0.5GWh/annum MegaFactory to expand production 
against a growing client demand.

	› Loss after tax for the period £5.8m (2021: Loss £3.7m).

	› As at 30 June 2022 the Group held cash and cash 
equivalents of £0.9m (2021: £9.3m) plus a 12 month term 
deposit of £2.0m which was released to cash on 7 July 2022.

Qualified sales opportunities in excess of £240m across all 
markets.

Company trading in line with the Board’s expectations.

Operational Highlights
Automotive sector Ultra High Power cells:

	› Non-binding MoUs and development agreements with key 
automotive partners including Cosworth, Viritec, MAHLE 
Powertrain, Sprint Power and BMW.

	› Cells manufactured on MegaFactory scale equipment at 
UKBIC. Initial product achieving expected performance 
specifications. 

	› On-going testing programmes show the cells have 
consistently achieved a full charge within six-minutes.

Energy storage sector Ultra Safe cells:

	› Cell development is nearing completion having reached its 
energy density specification of 140 Wh/kg.

	› Initial order received for Ultra Safe product.

	› Plan to commence production at Thurso later this year for 
delivery to customers for initial evaluation and project and 
supply validation.

Specialist Markets Ultra Prime: 

	› products continues to develop in line with expectations 
with initial sales expected to commence in FY24, with 
production centred on Thurso.

	› Focusing on the Thurso production facilities and UKBIC will 
enable AMTE Power to leverage its competitive advantages 
and development pipeline to drive the next stage of its 
growth towards the MegaFactory.

	› Entered into a binding letter of intent for a new, state of the 
art 0.5GWh MegaFactory in Dundee. The facility will be 
capable of producing more than 8 million cells with a 
revenue stream in excess of £200m.

	› Leadership team strengthened to provide skills and capabilities 
to deliver the full commercial scale up of the business
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AMTE Power is a leading battery 
cell manufacturer and one of 
the only companies making 
them in the UK today.

We’ve been producing cells for over 30 years at our 
factory in Scotland, which can trace its roots back 
to the birth of lithium-ion battery cell technology, 
first patented in the UK.

Now we’re looking to the next wave of battery 
innovation and scaling up our production volumes 
to kickstart a net zero revolution – electrifying 
vehicles and transforming energy storage across 
homes and industry.

We’re making the next generation of battery cells. 
Our automotive products are designed specifically 
to power high-performance cars, hybrid and fuel 
cell vehicles as well as heavy goods vehicles to 
help decarbonise travel and freight. No one else is 
focused on these markets like we are. Our Ultra 
High-Power cell has been developed with 
automotive OEMs to provide superior charge and 
discharge rates. We can deliver large-scale, 
reliable supply for our customers from our 
manufacturing base in the UK.

Lithium-ion chemistry isn’t right for every 
application and we are one of the only 
UK manufacturers developing a viable, alternative 
sodium-ion cell for energy storage systems – our 
Ultra Safe product. Ultra Safe will deliver the full 
potential for solar and wind power, conserving 
green energy for the UK grid and for our homes. 
This is an essential part of securing the UK’s 
domestic energy supply.

Our markets

Electric Vehicles 
With the UK industry demand for high power 
cells growing to in excess of 30 GWh of 
production a year by 2031, (ESource), AMTE 
Power is well placed to be a major supplier 
into the rapidly growing Fuel Cell Electric 
Vehicle market, and existing and future 
hybrid electric vehicle programs. Within 
these automotive sub-market sectors, our 
high power cells are necessary to allow 
these platforms to operate, whilst providing 
significant performance and cost 
advantages to our clients.

Specialised Markets 
In many industrial applications the need for 
cells to allow complex systems to operate 
in difficult environments is key to being able 
to transition to greener and smarter power 
solutions. To achieve this step change, battery 
and cell solutions are needed that can be 
deployed for years in challenging 
environments whilst providing consistent 
performance. Our Ultra Prime Cells have the 
performance and characteristics to meet 
these challenges and provide a sustainable 
solution with additional operational benefits 
of improved safety and productivity.

Energy Storage 
Now, more than ever, energy security, and 
the ability to generate and store energy, both 
locally and at grid level nationally, is critical. 
Through our engagement with energy 
generators, renewable energy producers, 
integrators and home energy storage system 
manufacturers, the opportunity for a rapid 
expansion in the wide scale use of battery 
storage systems based on more sustainable 
materials and supply chains is urgent. This 
will allow security of supply, protect the most 
vulnerable, and stabilise the energy market. The 
demand for domestically produced cells is at 
the heart of this, and our Ultra Safe (Sodium ion 
based) cells can play a key role in this market.

Our core products

Ultra High-Power 
These cells are ideally suited to 
key automotive sectors of high 
performance electric vehicles, 
hybrid vehicles, and fuel cell electric 
vehicles, with an increasing number 
of automotive original equipment 
manufacturers (“OEM”) committing to 
fuel cell electric vehicle production.

Ultra Safe 
With the continued challenges on 
pricing of key materials for batteries, 
there is significant interest in AMTE 
Power’s sodium ion cell, Ultra Safe, 
for energy storage systems. This cell 
uses no lithium, cobalt or copper 
and is more cost effective, safer and 
more sustainable than lithium cells.

Ultra Prime 
Ultra Prime is a non-rechargeable 
cell designed for use in some of the 
most difficult environments on earth, 
with very high Energy density and 
high temperature performance. This 
cell also has a low self-discharge, 
making it well suited for applications 
where temperature, access and 
depth are key considerations.

More detail on 
pages 8–10

More detail on 
pages 8–10

Differentiated cells designed 
for volume manufacture.”
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Planned transition to high volume supply

MoUs and development agreements are in place for Ultra High 
Power product with key automotive clients. Growing energy 
storage opportunity pipeline for Ultra Safe product backed by 
existing order for first 1000 cells. Existing supplier agreement in 
place for Ultra Prime product. Continued conversion of £240m 
opportunity pipeline into preliminary orders.

Use existing accessible production capacity to deliver 
against preliminary supply orders. 2 year production 
agreement with UK Battery Industrialisation Centre (UKBIC) to 
manufacture 60,000 Ultra High Power cells per annum. Capex 
investment in Thurso to enhance production capacity for 
Ultra Safe and Ultra Prime. 

Dundee site selected for MegaFactory – progress planning 
and permitting consents, develop funding strategy and close 
out funding to initiate build out programme.

Manufacturing 
	› Ramp up trials and production at Thurso and UKBIC.

	› Expand pipeline of c.£240m opportunities.

	› Production contracts anticipated, underpinning 
MegaFactory.

	› MegaFactory: Q2 funding strategy finalised.

Developing partnerships
	› MegaFactory; expected planning consent and 
commencement of construction. 

Dundee MegaFactory 
	› MegaFactory is expected to be operational in Q3.

	› Full production targets of >8m cells generating >£200m p.a.

2023 2024 2025
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>100GWh 
potential market 
size by 2030.

1
Existing supplier 
agreement for 
Ultra Prime

1st
order received for 
Ultra Safe

5 MoUs 
and collaboration 
agreements for 
supply of UHP 

0.5GWh 
planned capacity,  
>8 million cells, 
>£200m revenue

1.
Major market opportunity 
Playing an active role in the “Green Industrial Revolution”, 
AMTE Power’s aim is to become a key player in the 
development and supply of the next generation of battery 
cells to multiple industries. 

Well placed to capitalise on increased market uptake of 
electric vehicles, growing environmental concerns and 
increasing regulation and political pressure to shift away 
from the use of fossil fuels. 

2.
Diverse and differentiated product  
portfolio and strong partnerships 
AMTE Power sits outside of the main competition with three 
highly differentiated battery cells that are advanced in their 
development, with one expected to be released in each of 
the next three years, and a pipeline of technologies for future 
development. 

The intellectual property in the Company’s differentiated 
products is critical to the Company’s business, and we 
protect approximately 39 manufacturing processes and 
formulations and five designs as trade secrets. 

3.
Capability to deliver
One of only five UK commercial battery cell manufacturers 
with its purpose-built cell manufacturing facility at Thurso, 
Scotland, which has the second largest cell manufacturing 
capacity in the UK. 

With access to the UKBIC’s higher volume production 
facilities, AMTE Power is scaling its products towards 
MegaFactory and GigaFactory production rates. 

AMTE Power is in discussions with UK Government-linked 
funding sources, alongside commercial lenders and funding 
sources, as it seeks support for the development and 
construction of its proposed large scale production facilities. 

AMTE Power has advanced plans to scale its production 
capacity to 0.5GWh per annum at it’s MegaFactory to be sited 
in Dundee. AMTE Power has plans to further scale production to 
10GWh/annum and beyond to meet growing market demand. 

Additional engagement to develop capacity in Australia 
through Joint Venture. 

Why AMTE Power?
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Landmark year for AMTE Power 

2022 has been a landmark year for 
AMTE Power which has further 
established the Group as a leading 
high-performance battery cell 
developer and one of the only 
companies manufacturing battery 
cells in the UK today with established 
commercial partnerships in place.”

David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair

The business continues to operate at the heart of the UK’s 
drive towards net zero carbon emissions and has a range of 
high-performance lithium and sodium ion cells along with an 
extensive IP portfolio. AMTE Power is currently focused on the 
delivery of high-performance cells into the energy storage, 
automotive and other specialist markets. 

The business continues to follow a strategic direction that 
separates it from much of the competition, with highly 
differentiated cells supplied into substantial, but nonetheless 
specialised, markets. Key highlights throughout the reported 
period were the successful trials for our high-performance 
automotive cell, achieving full charging rates of 6 minutes, 
alongside a continuing shift in commercial engagements 
from development to supply, with the signing of a number of 
non binding MoUs with well-known automotive marques and 
a pipeline of opportunities across our full portfolio of cells in 
excess of £240 million. 

Strategic Direction on Track 
2022 has been a landmark year for AMTE Power which has 
further established the Group as a leading high-performance 
battery cell developer and one of the only companies 
manufacturing battery cells in the UK today with established 
commercial partnerships in place. 

In July this year we announced a key strategic step in our 
journey to gigafactory scale production as we entered into a 
binding letter of intent for a new, state of the art 0.5GWh 
MegaFactory located in Dundee which can be operational 
within three years. The facility will be capable of producing 
annually more than 8 million cells with a revenue stream in 
excess of £200m. The site in Dundee will significantly increase 
our cell production capacity, thereby allowing the Group to 
respond to the high levels of interest in its differentiated high 
added value cells.

Prior to the MegaFactory becoming operational, we have 
enhanced our near term capacity; on 6th October 2022 we 
announced we had signed a production agreement with the 
UKBIC Agreement which allows the Group to request the 
UKBIC to produce up to 60,000 of its Ultra High Power cells 
each year, over an initial term of 24 months. This, coupled 
with our existing Thurso production facility, will allow us to 
commence product supply in the near term, and generate 
first production revenue and ultimately underpin the 
MegaFactory with commercial arrangements ahead of 
finalising and securing funding to commence the build out. 

Bond Issuance
Following on from our highly successful IPO in 2021, the Group 
has continued to utilise its funds for the intended purpose of 
developing its product range and client engagement prior to 
scaling up production. I am delighted to report that having 
now reached a point where the Group needs to move from 
development to supply, on 4th November we announced the 
outcome of a successful fund raise through an unsecured 
convertible bond facility to the Group for a total amount of 
up to £5 million, available for drawdown in three tranches: 
£3 million on completion of the Proposed Facility and two 
further tranches of £1 million each at least 60 days following 
drawdown of the previous tranche. 

I would like to thank all the shareholders who supported 
us at the EGM which allowed us to successfully close the 
funding. The net proceeds of the capital raising will be 
used to conclude the final development of each of our 
core battery cells; to finance capital expenditure at the 
Thurso factory in order to achieve commercial production 
volumes and to finance the costs of scaling up early 
commercial production. 
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Enhancing the management team:
In order to support the dynamic growth from within the Group 
and our requirement to skill up our manufacturing expertise, 
we announced on 6th September 2022 that Alan Hollis had 
been appointed an Executive Director of the Company Chief 
Executive Officer Designate. He initially worked alongside the 
AMTE Power executive management team and took on the 
role of Chief Executive Officer on 31 October 2022, now 
leading the business in its growth strategy. 

Alan Hollis has a 20-year public company track record of 
developing and executing profitable growth strategies within 
engineering and manufacturing businesses with turnovers 
ranging from £4 million to £200 million. In his last two roles he 
was a Divisional CEO in Videndum (Vitec) Group plc 
(“Videndum”) from 2015 to 2021, and a Divisional President in 
the USA in a division of NYSE listed Crane Co. from 2014 to 2015. 
Previously, Alan held leadership roles within the automotive 
and aerospace component and system supply businesses 
Doncasters Group, Firth Rixson and the PFW Group, as well as 
in the materials businesses of Delloro Stellite and Weir plc.

At the same time we also announced that Kevin Brundish, 
who had founded the Company in 2013, would remain as a 
Board Director in the role of Strategy Director, allowing him to 
focus on the continuing development of AMTE Power’s high 
performance battery cells, and it’s relationships with its 
customers, suppliers and Government entities, in addition to 
playing a key part in co-ordinating the strategic direction of 
the Group. I would like to thank Kevin for his work in bringing 
the Company to this transitional stage where product 
development moves to product supply, and I would like to 
welcome Alan to the team. 

Finally, it was announced on 5 September 2022 that James 
Hobson, Chief Financial Officer, had advised the Board of his 
intention to leave AMTE Power. It has been agreed that he will 
leave AMTE Power on 30th November 2022. The Board has 
recruited Anita Breslin as his replacement as announced on 
17 November 2022. I would like to thank James for his support 
during this transitional phase of the business. 

Outlook
AMTE Power is in a good position. There is a high level of 
commercial interest in our products. We remain on target with 
the plans to commercialise our highly differentiated products 
and we are seeing a growth in new opportunities arising 
which are now focussed on supply rather than product 
development. We have an immediately accessible production 
capacity which will allow us to convert market opportunity 
into product supply revenue. Near term revenue and 
commercial supply arrangements will underpin the demand 
and lead to our funding the expansion of our production 
capacity through our proposed MegaFactory in Dundee. 
As we transition into this phase of product manufacture and 
supply, I would like to extend my sincerest thanks to all the 
AMTE Power team during this highly active period and look 
forward to continuing on this exciting phase of the Group’s 
development to full commercialisation of its highly 
specialised products.

David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair
30 November 2022
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Automotive – Electric Vehicles

Our Ultra High Power Cells are focused on hybrid forms of 
vehicles; the new plug-in hybrid vehicles (PHEVs), and the 
rapidly growing and developing fuel cell electric vehicle 
market (FCEV), a hydrogen/high powered battery hybrid. In a 
recently commissioned report from E Source, the FCEV market 
demand alone for high powered cells was projected to grow 
to in excess of 21 GWh by 2031.Demand is also projected for 
high performance battery electric vehicles (BEVs) and 
Aerospace applications.

Performance cars and motorsport OEMs and integrators are 
facing quickly descending CO2 legislated targets which they 
cannot meet with their legacy powertrains. Hence they need 
to move to a powertrain solution that still provides the high 
levels of performance in line with the customer expectations 
of their brand, and also reduces CO2 emissions. Hybrid 
powertrains using an engine and power battery pack is the 
commercially adopted solution. The PHEVs (plug-in hybrid) 
powertrain significantly reduce CO2 emissions and can be 
used in zero-emission zones. The powertrain requires a 
battery and cell which can provide significant usable power 
to match the vehicle performance requirements, as well as 
providing a contribution (albeit limited) to range.

FCEVs are being adopted by a range of vehicle OEMs for 
certain vehicles, including BMW. Fuel cells are optimal when 
they run at a constant rate; whilst this can give a high range, 
it does not deliver the levels of power required for 
acceleration. A battery is therefore needed as a (power) 
buffer between the fuel cell and the accelerator pedal. The 
battery cells also need to provide power for vehicle start up. 
Space in an FCEV is highly limited, so the battery solution 
needs to deliver the high power from a small volume, 
requiring the battery cell to have a very high power density. 

Our Solution
AMTE Power’s UHP cell offers near double the power 
discharge capability of its nearest rival. This means it offers 
almost twice the power capability, so the real value for OEMs 
is they can choose to design their brand to deliver even more 
power, or halve their pack size, reducing vehicle weight which 
improves performance and manufacturability and reduces 
costs. And with AMTE Power’s UHP cell, very cleverly designed 
so it’s temperature can be easily managed, the pack can be 
fast charged in minutes, rather than hours. With Rules of 
Origin requiring ever increasing percentages of parts to be 
sourced in the UK and Europe, UK manufactured high power 
cells are very attractive to the automotive industry.
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Energy storage

The world’s energy storage market is seeing a significant shift 
in pace for investment and adoption of renewable energy 
technologies. This is a result of the Paris Climate Agreement in 
2016, and a continued strong focus on the impact of climate 
change. Large scale deployments, particularly of wind and 
solar energy generation projects, have resulted in an increased 
demand for battery storage systems. These systems range 
from home energy storage systems through to large scale 
battery storage systems supporting towns, cities, and other 
remote communities, for example mines. It allows for efficient 
management of renewably generated power for supply when 
these renewable sources cannot generate energy. 

These storage systems also provide for grid energy storage 
and support load balancing, as traditional grids are designed 
for a steady stream of electricity production. With the 
increased use of renewable energy sources, where electricity 
generation often depends on the weather, such as wind, the 
energy generation profile is far more variable. This causes 
peaks and troughs that need to be managed more flexibly; 
energy storage systems allow battery packs to store energy, 
overcoming these difficulties. 

With the market for energy storage systems, and the cells 
that form them, continuing to grow significantly over the next 
20 years, supply of cells and systems must be generated to 
support this growth. This is challenging for the cell 
manufacturing industry as focus has been on automotive, 
where largescale global car brands with long term high 
volume call off contracts consume most of the current 
available scale production. AMTE Power’s Ultra Storage and 
Ultra Safe cells will provide a safe, and secure supply of cells, 
to meet the fast-growing application of energy storage 
systems for clean energy generation, and support load 
balancing and transition to a more flexible grid structure. 

Our Solution
Thanks to its sodium-ion chemistry, Ultra Safe is easy to 
transport. Its raw materials are also more sustainable and 
cost-effective than lithium-ion alternatives thanks to the 
global abundance of sodium.

Our Ultra Safe cells made from sodium have a number 
of key advantages:

	› They have safety benefits compared to lithium-ion 
cells as their design and chemistry copes well with 
higher temperatures.

	› They are more sustainable than lithium cells as sodium is 
abundantly available globally so can be sourced much 
closer to where they are needed.

	› Unlike their lithium counterparts, our sodium-ion cells can 
be fully discharged without damaging the cell, meaning 
that in energy storage applications, all the energy stored 
in our sodium-ion cells can be safely used, providing real 
operational benefits for total cost of ownership.

	› We have no need to use nickel or lithium in our cells, so the 
cells are not as susceptible to the ongoing challenges of 
sourcing and pricing these key metals. With sodium so 
abundant, this helps in making sodium cells more affordable.

	› The cell provides good performance when compared to 
lithium-ion cells, making them a good safer alternative to 
the existing lithium-ion cells on the market.

All of this means that our customers see our Ultra Safe cells, 
made here in the UK, as a safer and more secure supply option 
for use in energy storage systems, as they look to us to support 
the development of a secure, safe long term supply chain.
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Specialised markets

The nature of work undertaken in decarbonizing industries 
such as construction, mining, oil and gas, and agriculture 
require a combination of high power and range. With this, 
and a growing engagement with the rail industry, we expect 
additional volume orders from outside of our core markets, 
supporting us further to expand our manufacturing footprint 
in line with our plans. 

Our Solutions
Our range of battery technologies can be used in some of the 
most challenging industrial settings to fast-track the journey 
to net zero – from Ultra Prime for deep-water applications, to 
our Ultra Safe cell for energy storage in remote locations 
without grid access. Ultra Safe is also well suited to high-
temperature environments thanks to its thermal stability.

Our Ultra Prime cell, which is non-rechargeable, is being 
designed with very high energy density and high-temperature 
performance, for use in some of the most difficult 
environments. Furthermore, this cell also has a very low 
self-discharge; ideal for use where temperature, access and 
potentially depth are key considerations. The expected 
product release date is Q4-2023, and a contract for supply of 
this cell into subsea applications has already been signed. 

Our broader technology portfolio, especially in areas such as 
flexible batteries (which can be bent and shaped into all sorts 
of forms and built into products) is attracting attention from 
global technology brands. This gives us further options to 
create value from our technology base and IP portfolio. 
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Manufacturing
	›  Existing Thurso facility (£35m 
replacement cost) 

	›  Access to UKBIC, leveraging capacity 

	›  Build out programmes for MegaFactory 
in the UK 

Links to strategy 
  

Market engagement 
	›  Strong client based engagement, 
generating opportunity base of £240m. 
MoUs and development agreements in 
place with a range of industry and 
household brands including Cosworth, 
Viritec, MAHLE Powertrain, Sprint Power 
and BMW.

Links to strategy 
  

Intellectual property
	›  Extensive IP portfolio licensed in and 
developed further 

	›  IP built upon extensive investment by 
the likes of QinetiQ and Faradion 

Links to strategy 

Expertise
	›  75-strong team with substantial industry 
experience 

	›  24 in product development 

	›  Strong industrialisation team 
delivering new capacity 

Links to strategy 

Powering a cleaner future

Our business approach is to embed our extensive IP portfolio into differentiated products and scale manufacturing capacity 

Finalising 
Commercialisation  

and Moving into Supply

Innovation
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Developing advanced cell 
technology that will power 
the transition to net zero.

Introduction
AMTE Power is a leading battery cell manufacturer in the UK 
– we have been making batteries for almost 30 years and are 
one of the only companies manufacturing them in the UK 
today. Focussed on highly differentiated products within the 
Automotive, Renewable Energy Storage and other specialised 
markets, we are at the forefront of the net-zero transition. This 
is why I welcomed the opportunity to join the Group as Chief 
Executive Officer in October this year, with the goal of driving 
the business’s planned route to commercialisation, improving 
manufacturing execution, attracting battery cell technology 
expertise and engaging more closely with customers and 
stakeholders.

Since my arrival eight weeks ago, I have been on the road 
meeting all the teams and staff at Thurso in Scotland, Oxford 
and our office in London, learning about the business, gaining 
their feedback and crystallising my insight into how I can 
support AMTE Power’s ambitious growth plans. In addition, I 
have attended industry events, forums, and met key 
stakeholders, all of whose views are crucial to formulating my 
future plans.

Once I have undertaken a deep review of the business, 
I intend to share my strategic vision for AMTE Power with the 
key stakeholders in early 2023, setting out a clear path for 
growth and execution thereon. These plans will give clarity on 
the launch plans of our three core high performance battery 
cell products, and how we will drive the strategic 
development of the proposed MegaFactory.

In my visits to the business I have been impressed by the 
highly skilled teams of world class electrochemists, 
technicians and engineers with years of experience in 
product development and production, gained from our 
30 year heritage. Our people remain our best asset and I 
intend to continue to develop and grow our team as we scale 
the business, bringing in new blood and skills, both at the 
Board level and on the manufacturing production lines. Two 
such appointments have been the recent selection of Anita 
Breslin as our new Chief Financial Officer and the recruitment 
of a new Supply Chain Director.

AMTE Power is at an exciting stage of its corporate growth 
trajectory, with existing high margin, high performance 
products and manufacturing expertise. I look forward to 
working with my new colleagues on delivering my strategic 
vision for 2023-2025.

FY22 Overview
FY22 has been an important year for AMTE Power. The Group 
continued to develop its differentiated product range (Ultra 
High Power, Ultra Safe and Ultra Prime) in line with 
expectations. Of particular note was the progress made in 
trials for the Ultra High Power automotive cell, which has 
achieved a consistent full charge time of six minutes and 
these are now being manufactured at UK Battery 
Industrialisation Centre (UKBIC) on commercial scale 
equipment, demonstrating our ability to manufacture these 
cells at high volume scale. This achievement, combined with 
product performance and manufacturing maturity puts the 
Group in a highly competitive position with market leading 
products.

The use of UKBIC to manufacture cells will enable AMTE Power 
to upscale production ahead of mass commercialisation as 
the business progresses towards its first MegaFactory, with a 
proposed site identified in Dundee, Scotland.

Under the “road to net zero”, the Government continues to 
provide significant support to its policy of switching the motor 
industry to electric vehicles by 2030, alongside decarbonising 
the grid, and Government backed funding is now in excess of 
£1 billion for the sector.

Commercial collaboration
Throughout the period the Group saw a move in commercial 
interest from product development to supply interest, and 
initial commercial arrangements (non-binding MoUs) were 
put in place around supply for the Ultra High Power cell, 
among others, Cosworth and MAHLE Powertrain, both 
well-established powertrain providers into the automotive 
market.

An important signal to the future demand for our battery cells 
is the involvement of original equipment manufacturers 
(“OEM”) in key projects such as CELERITAS, a new government 
funded three-year project aimed at developing ultra-fast 
charging cells for the electric vehicle and fuel cell hybrid 
electric vehicles markets. AMTE Power is part of the 
consortium and our Ultra High Power cell development is an 
important part of this project. This demonstrates the high 
level of interest in our battery cells both from government and 
commercial partners. Vehicle OEM BMW is a named 
development partner on this programme alongside BP and 
Sprint Electric.

The business has also signed an initial order for 100 of our 
Ultra Safe cells with AceOn. This is the first supply contract for 
our Ultra Safe product, in a growing pipeline of opportunities 

Alan Hollis
Chief Executive Officer
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I am delighted to have joined AMTE 
Power at such an exciting stage of its 
growth trajectory. In the short time I 
have been with the business, I have met 
teams from across the Group to inform 
my views on how to improve execution 
and delivery and have been impressed 
by the depth of knowledge and 
experience of our highly skilled team.

The business is well placed with existing 
high margin, high performance 
products and manufacturing expertise. 
I look forward to sharing my vision for 
AMTE Power and building on the 
achievements made to date to take the 
business forward on the next stage of 
its growth.”



Batteries for a high 
performance future

Ultra High Power cells for high performance, 
Fuel cell and hybrid vehicles.

30GWh
Market size 

by 2030
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which includes large household brands in the energy 
generation industry as well as smaller entities focussed on 
energy storage at the household level. Our objective is to 
develop this early supply interest into long-term 
engagements to sit alongside our existing seven year 
development and supply agreement we have for our Ultra 
Prime cell.

Operational review
AMTE Power continues to make good progress across its 
three core cells: Ultra High Power, Ultra Safe and Ultra Prime. 
These differentiated products are focused on High 
performance electric vehicles, hybrid vehicles and fuel cell 
electric vehicles and energy storage sectors and other 
specialist markets, with properties outpacing other cells 
currently in the market. The business currently has a number 
of key commercial opportunities for its products and a 
growing overall pipeline of potential business with 
opportunities of circa £240.

Ultra High Power
These cells are ideally suited to key automotive sectors of 
high-performance electric vehicles, hybrid vehicles, and fuel 
cell electric vehicles, with an increasing number of 
automotive OEMs committing to fuel cell electric vehicle 
production. The Ultra High Power cells are currently being 
produced at the UKBIC, utilising our existing development 
agreement with the facility to scale up production to 
gigafactory rates. The cells are delivering exceptionally well 
against the Company’s target specification, at higher 
volumes. The cell has demonstrated its high power capability, 
with full charging times of six minutes in initial testing being 
consistently achieved. This high level of performance, 
coupled with the manufacturing maturity of the cell at UKBIC, 
puts the Ultra High Power cell in a very competitive position to 
move to initial product supply against the growing 
automotive market interest.

Ultra Safe
Given the continued challenges on pricing of key materials 
for batteries there has been significant interest in AMTE 
Power’s sodium-ion cell, Ultra Safe, from major energy 
generators to home energy storage producers. This cell uses 
no lithium, cobalt or copper and is more cost effective, safer 
and more sustainable than lithium cells.

Our Ultra Safe cell is meeting its development targets, with 
cell development nearing completion having reached its 
energy density specification of 140 Wh/kg and cells made at 
our Thurso facility having met our target performance levels. 

As we have increased production, we have seen steady 
progression towards manufacturing maturity.

In March 2022, the Company announced an initial order for 
1000 cells from AceOn targeted for delivery in 2023, which we 
expect to be the first of a number of such orders as we 
enhance the manufacturing capacity at Thurso and prepare 
to invest in our first MegaFactory.

Ultra Prime
Ultra Prime is a non-rechargeable cell designed for use in 
some of the most difficult environments on earth, with very 
high energy density and high-temperature performance. 
This cell also has a low self-discharge, making it well suited 
for applications where temperature, access and long 
duration of charge retention are key considerations.

Our Ultra Prime product continues to meet our expectations 
and performance targets. AMTE Power has a contracted 
supply agreement in place for this cell and is progressing to 
initial supply and trials in 2023, with scale up thereafter in 
2024/2025.

Industrialisation 
As our core product development activities near conclusion, 
we have looked to ensure we have near term and longer term 
capacity in place to meet the growing demand for our cells. 
We have taken the first step in our plans to expand our 
production capabilities and in July 2022 announced AMTE 
Power’s first proposed site for a MegaFactory in Dundee with 
a capacity of 0.5GWh/annum. This factory will enable AMTE 
Power to increase manufacturing volume capacity to over 8m 
of our Ultra High Power and Ultra Safe cells per annum and 
will be a massive step change in the production capacity of 
the Group. Based on current timings, this facility could be 
operational and in production by Q3 2025.

In the interim, our strategy is to utilise the existing and 
immediately accessible production capacity of the Group. 
In October 2022 we announced a production contract with 
UKBIC to produce up to 60,000 Ultra High Power cells each 
year, over an initial term of 24 months. This will enable AMTE 
Power to deliver its first Ultra High Power cells in sufficient scale 
to allow customers to progress to in-vehicle trials, as the 
automotive industry transitions away from traditional fuels. 
Ramp up of existing production of the Ultra High Power cells at 
the UKBIC is due to start in January 2023, generating initial 
revenues for the Company and enabling the Company to meet 
growing demand from within the automotive sector, principally 
for high performance Electric Vehicles and Fuel Cell Electric 
Vehicles. AMTE Power has existing non-binding memoranda of 

understanding in place with key automotive partners 
Cosworth, Viritech and MAHLE Powertrain, in addition to 
collaboration agreements with Sprint Power and BMW. 

Financial review 
Whilst financial performance indicators are a key part in 
managing the Group’s cash position, other financial 
indicators are less representative of the Group’s performance 
as the product was still in development throughout the 
reported period. The Group made a conscious decision 
during the period to reduce focus on Commercial income and 
focus more acutely on taking its products to market. 

As a Group we grew turnover 10% to £2.2m compared to £2.0m 
for the previous period. This was driven by an increase in 
grant income of 53% compared to the previous period. Grant 
income accounted for 91% of turnover in the year (up from 65% 
in 2021). The Group continues to invest in its product 
development, which resulted in operating losses of £5.8m for 
the year (2021: loss of £3.6m). Cash and cash equivalents as at 
30 June 2022 of £0.9m (2021: £9.3m). As at 30 June 2022 the 
Group held cash and cash equivalents of £0.9m (2021: £9.3m) 
plus a 12 month term deposit of £2.0m which was released to 
cash on 7 July 2022.

Post period end, the £5m convertible bond facility will allow 
the Company to secure and execute on production contracts 
for the Ultra Safe and Ultra Prime cells at its existing Thurso 
facility.

Outlook 
AMTE Power is at an exciting stage of its journey. We are in a 
structurally growing sector in a jurisdiction that is focused on 
the climate agenda. We are a specialist business, within a 
very large market, offering highly differentiated products to 
our customers. We have already achieved several significant 
milestones and the recently announced £5m convertible 
bond facility leaves the Group well placed for further 
progress in the year ahead. 

Alan Hollis
Chief Executive Officer
30 November 2022
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Next generation 
energy storage

Ultra Storage cells for renewable 
energy storage in residential and 
grid scale markets.

>100GWh
Market size 

by 2030
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Protecting our technologies and designs to keep products secure in their market.  Tested and certified products manufactured at the target volumes to match market needs

In-period achievements:
	› Expanded patent filing to protect the Ultra High power and Ultra Safe products.

	› Registration of Ultra brand products in rest of world.

	› Undertaken freedom to operate studies for Ultra products in key markets.

	› MegaFactory® trademarked in the UK.

In-period achievements:
	› Ultra High Power cell manufactured from powder to Power at MegaFactory production 
rates (“Megapace”) in UKBIC. 

	› Ultra Safe cell produced at Thurso to meet target performance characteristics. 

	› Ultra Prime volume line set up in Thurso to meet client demand forecasts. 

	› Signed contract with UKBIC to manufacture 60,000 UHP cells/year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FY22/23 priorities: 
	› Complete IP Audit across all functions

	› Expand protection on Ultra High Power, Ultra Safe and Ultra Prime products into next 
generation. 

	› Expand trademark and design protection in key world markets.

	› New brand protection in world markets. 

FY22/23 priorities
	› Enhance yield and production rates to allow more economic production of Ultra High 
Power cell in UKBIC. 

	› Complete 3rd party testing on Ultra High Power cell for automotive markets.

	› Complete UN38.3 testing on Ultra High Power and Ultra Safe cells to facilitate 
transportation. 

	› Continued development of Ultra High Power, Ultra Safe and Ultra Prime cells to ensure 
performance and price competitiveness. 

	› Production of Ultra Prime cell at volume rate in Thurso facility. 

Risk categories

3

Risk categories

1 32 4

Cultivate and grow  
the IP portfolio 

Accelerate product development to 
maintain a lead for key products 

Delivering our strategy

Creating shareholder value through the development and supply of differentiated battery cells into automotive and 
energy storage and specialist markets for a cleaner global future.
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Enable scaling of the business by securing orders for the AMTE Power products in 
specialised, but substantial, markets. 

Ensure the skills and production processes are available to support high volume production.

In-period achievements – converting development interest into initial supply agreements:
	› 5 MoUs for supply of Ultra High Power signed with automotive clients including Cosworth, 
Mahle and Viritech.

	› Initial order for 1000 Ultra Safe cells received from AceOn.

	› Strategic project won with BMW as development partner.

	› Provision of Ultra High Power cells to major automotive and aerospace OEMs.

	› Provision of Ultra Prime prototype cells to tier 1 partner in oil and gas market.

In-period achievements – gearing up to high speed Gigapace production: 
	› Set out our Sustainability and ESG strategy, adopted by the board.

	› Grew our industrialisation team, engaged key design consultants.

	› Simulated the MegaFactory production, costs and quality rates.

	› Advanced the design of AMTE Power’s MegaFactory.

	› Announced our manufacturing expansion to MegaFactory scale in Dundee.

	› Engaged government funding sources, with a view to securing an offer for UK production 
expansion plans. 

	› Reviewed production processes in Scotland and identified a clear route to deliver the 
Ultra Prime product (to meet anticipated client demand) and commenced 
recommissioning of production equipment

	› Signed a contract with UKBIC to manufacture 60,000 Ultra High Power cells per annum 
prior to MegaFactory coming on line. 

FY22/23 priorities:
	› Expand pipeline of c.£240m qualified sales discussions Further develop existing and new 
relationships with vehicle OEMs.

	› Convert pipeline into preliminary production contracts – sell out current capacity and 
underpin MegaFactory.

	› Add additional revenue stream through early product sales of Ultra Energy and Ultra 
High Power cells.

	› Continue market analysis and review competitive landscape; provide information into 
product roadmaps.

	› Improve the strength of the brand through increased increase PR and IR activities.

FY22/23 priorities – continue drive towards Gigapace: 
	› Imbed our Sustainability and ESG strategy pillars and processes into the business.

	› Design our business to deliver expansion as per our Sustainability road map.

	› Deliver the production of Ultra High Power production within the UKBIC contract.

	› Award key work packages for MegaFactories construction and mobilisation.

	› Progress funding for UK MegaFactory.

	› Enable Thurso to deliver the Ultra Prime to our customers demand profile.

Risk categories

1 32 4 5

Risk categories

3 5

Expand presence in specialised and 
substantial growth markets 

Provide sufficient production capacity 
to meet client demand and forecast 
sales budgets
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No  
poverty

Zero  
hunger

Good health and 
wellbeing

Quality 
education

Gender equality

Clean water and 
sanitation

Affordable and 
clean energy

Decent work and 
economic growthIndustry, 

innovation and 
infrastructure

Reduced 
inequalities

Sustainable cities 
and communities

Responsible 
consumption and 

production

Climate  
action

Life below water

Life on  
land

Peace, justice 
and strong 
institutions

Partnerships for 
the goals

Environmental, Social 
and Governance

At AMTE Power, sustainability is at the centre of our ambition. 

Our purpose is to power the energy transition. Through our 
products we aim to accelerate the decarbonisation of energy 
and mobility in a socially responsible and ethical manner. 
We protect the Environment, create Social benefit to our 
communities and support universal human rights. We respect 
the law, good Governance and best practice. 

Producing batteries means using minerals that have to be 
mined and refined before we purchase them. Our customers, 
and their customers expect these materials to be sourced 
responsibly, with minimal impact on the sensitive flora, fauna 
and surrounding communities and by employees that work in 
safe, healthy and fair conditions with equitable pay. 

Our Carbon Emissions
As one of the only current UK battery manufacturers we are 
uniquely able to collect carbon emissions data from real 
world production at our Thurso facility. This enables us to as 
far as possible design our future mega and giga factories to 
be net zero from commissioning. In 2022 we undertook our first 
ever greenhouse gas inventory. For the financial year 2021, the 
inventory used the Greenhouse Gas protocol operational 
control methodology and includes direct emissions (Scope 1), 
indirect Scope 2 emissions and some indirect Scope 3 emissions. 

At AMTE Power we are committed to going beyond 
compliance. We also recognise that although operating a 
battery production facility in the UK means our customers 
and investors can trust our stage of the lifecycle, we have a 
responsibility to make sure we obtain our supplies from 
similarly conscientious providers.

So in 2022 we have worked with supply chain platform 
consultancy Infyos Ltd to map out the environmental, social 
and governance issues material to our business and 
customers. The materiality assessment (figure 1) was 
developed with stakeholders within AMTE Power to identify 
the issues relevant to the business.

Identifying our material issues enabled us to define six pillars 
on which to build our sustainability strategy (Figure 2), and 
build these into our business objectives as a roadmap.

Product

Production

Miners

Processors

Suppliers

Customers

Users

Recyclers

GovernanceEn
vi

ro
nm

ent

Social
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Energy and  
Greenhouse Gas
At AMTE Power we aim to 
achieve net zero 
production for our direct 
(Scope 1) and indirect 
(Scope 2) greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions by 
2030. Through quarter 
three 2022 we will 
conduct a thorough 
Scope 1 and 2 GHG 
inventory. We will then 
aim to measure our 
material indirect Scope 3 
emissions through our 
value chain and work to 
minimise Scope 1, 2 and 3 
emissions.

We aim to achieve 
net zero production for 
Scopes 1 and 2 by 2030 
and a verified net zero 
value chain by 2040

Employee  
Wellbeing 
Our people are our most 
important asset and 
their health, safety and 
wellbeing is our number 
one priority. We will 
implement robust 
management systems 
and measure our 
diversity, inclusion and 
equality regularly.

We will create high 
quality green jobs with 
healthy, safe and 
happy employees

Responsible 
Sourcing 
As we scale up we 
recognize we have 
influence through our 
purchasing power. We 
are committed to 
understanding the 
impact of our raw 
materials on the 
environment and 
communities and to 
continually improve our 
sourcing to make 
responsible purchasing 
possible for our 
customers. 

We will accelerate 
sustainable development 
through responsible 
sourcing across our 
supply chain

Transparency and 
Governance
At AMTE Power we strive 
to be open and honest 
about the environmental 
and social impacts of 
our operations and 
supply chain. We are 
committed to continually 
monitoring and 
improving our ESG 
performance across the 
value chain.

We will establish robust 
governance, reporting 
and data sharing both 
for our own operations 
and through our 
supply chain

Circularity and 
Resilience 
We are working in 
partnership with battery 
recyclers to ensure our 
products can not only be 
dismantled responsibly 
at the end of their life, 
but can provide recycled 
feedstock for new 
batteries, minimizing 
virgin resource 
extraction.

We will design our 
products to contribute 
to a resilient and 
circular economy

Advocacy and 
Influence 
We strive to be industry 
leaders in environmental, 
social and governance 
action in energy storage 
to be part of the solution 
to the climate and 
biodiversity crisis.

We will actively engage 
with customers, 
suppliers, financiers 
and concerned 
stakeholders to 
continually improve 
our own and the 
industry’s ESG 
performance

Our strategy

Our sustainability roadmap 
pages 20–21

AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2022 19

1 2 3 4Strategic report | Sustainability continued



	› AMTE Power sustainability strategy was launched 

	› Deep review of material sustainability issues 

Baseline measurement of scope 1 &2 GHG emissions 

100% renewable electricity

Partnerships with recyclers to aim to exceed the end of 
life recovery targets required by the upcoming EU Battery 
Regulations 

Set a decarbonisation target for existing facilities in line 
with the Science Based Targets Initiative and the 2015 
Paris Agreement 

Pursue zero harm to our employees and the public from 
our activities 

Provide a safe and healthy work environment and 
respect flexible working practises and respect rest and 
relaxation time

Regularly survey the wellbeing of our employees and take 
action to continually improve 

Continually improve and promote equality, diversity and 
inclusivity 

Gain certification as a living wage employer

Procurement Policy requiring suppliers to be committed 
to one or more good international industry practise 
standards 

Life Cycle Assessment for each cell product 

Supplier Code of Conduct requiring commitments to 
decarbonisation, human rights, tax transparency, the 
prevention of pollution, and zero corruption and forced 
labour

Ensure all employees are trained, and competent and 
understand how sustainability interacts with their work 
and understand their contribution to the green transition 

Compile a series of informed policies in place on key ESG 
issues

2022 2023 2024Supplier 
selection

MegaFactory 
installation begins

Key

Energy and GHG 
 

Responsible Sourcing Circularity and 
Resilience

Employee Wellbeing and 
opportunity

Governance, Ethics and 
Transparency

Advocacy and influence 

Our Sustainability Roadmap

Key goals were developed from the six pillars, each with sub-goals. Sub goals have associated actions for their delivery, measurable and me-bound wherever possible.
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Conduct an assessment of the actual environment and 
social impact of each cell using informa on from our 
suppliers 

Seek accreditation to British Carbon Neutrality Standard 
PAS 2060 

Develop a Group wide Environmental Management 
System (EMS) accredited to ISO 14001:2015 and an Energy 
Management System (EnMS) accredited to ISO 50001:2018

Conduct supplier due diligence to exceed regulation 

Continuously improve our environment and social 
performance minimising negative impacts and 
maximising positive outcomes as far as possible

Create apprenticeships for young people in the green 
economy 

Monitor material ESG data across our operations and 
supply chain and seek to continually improve 
performance 

We will be industry-leaders in transparent reporting and 
seek third party assurance where applicable

Achieve verified net zero Scope 1&2 greenhouse gas 
emissions 

Influence circular economy policy and strategies and 
meet the requirements or legislation through concepts 
such as Mobility as a Service (MaaS) 

Influence legislation and undertake research and 
development to drive continuous improvement in 
sustainability standards in the industry 

Track the contribution our products make to affordable 
renewable energy and mobility and use our influence 
and products to drive decarbonisation of the economy

Achieve verified net zero Supply chain (Scope 3) emissions 
by 2040

2025 2030 2040MegaFactory 
operational
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Ultra High-Power (UHP) Ultra Safe (US) Ultra Prime (UPr)

Developed with the automotive industry for high-performance 
vehicles, our Ultra High-Power cell can deliver consistent 
power at a very high rate (>35C). Ultra High-Power is also 
designed to deliver torque for heavy goods vehicles.

UKBIC:
	› The partnering with the UKBIC to deliver 60,000 UHP cells 
per annum gives AMTE Power the immediate expansion of 
its manufacturing capacity. The construction, delivery and 
commissioning of the MegaFactory will be mitigated by this 
partnering contract prior to full Mega scale production. 

	› AMTE Power’s teams will aid the UKBIC to deliver the UHP 
product and optimise production processes. These learning 
will be integrated into the MegaFactories design and 
delivery. Key staff training will be delivered via our Thurso 
facility and experts and the UKBIC’s Gigapace production 
equipment.

Our sodium-ion cell is targeted at battery energy storage for 
renewable power, including for residential use and in remote 
locations without grid access. Able to operate in a broad 
temperature range, Ultra Safe is thermally stable and can 
be transported easily. It delivers a high performance and 
is cost-effective thanks to the lower cost & more abundant 
raw materials it uses.

Ultra Prime is a non-rechargeable cell designed for use in 
some of the most difficult environments on earth, with very 
high energy density and high-temperature performance. 
This cell also has a low self-discharge, making it well suited 
for applications where temperature, access and depth are 
key considerations.

Scaling up production to meet increasing client demand
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Thurso
	› Thurso will provide initial scale manufacturing for our Ultra 
Safe and Ultra Prime cells.

	› Thurso will become the centre for Ultra Prime (UPr) 
production and support staff training for the MegaFactory. 

	› The manufacturing systems will be re purposed and scaled 
up to meet the customers demand profile, over the coming 
period. Our existing expertise and knowledge being 
focused on the customers demand profile. 

UK Battery Industrialisation Centre (UKBIC)
The UKBIC will be the centre for production of our Ultra High 
Power cell for the next few years. We have a production 
contract for up to 60,000 Ultra High Power cells p.a. being 
finalised*. The UKBIC uses commercial scale equipment. 
This provides us with production capacity ahead of mass 
production MegaFactory allowing customers to progress 
to in-vehicle trials.

MegaFactory
Our plans are to construct a MegaFactory to produce in 
excess of 8million of our Ultra High Power and Ultra Safe cells. 
The simulation of the facility for 0.5GWh scale production 
gives OEM’s the criteria needed to give real world quotes and 
designs, feeding into specialist work packages. The Dundee 
facility requires minor adaptations to allow Mega scale 
manufacturing. The tenders will be issued for the adaptations 
of the facility to allow the installation of the manufacturing 
system as per our plans. Commissioning materials and 
procedures being drawn from our Thurso facility and existing 
supply chain. The MegaFactory will move to manufacturing 
and the delivery of its products for customers at scale.

Staff recruitment and training will be facilitated by local 
training providers, with hands on training in Thurso and with 
key OEM’s.
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Key workers

Principal risks

Product 
development

Commercial

Production 
scale-up Financial

Managing and mitigating our key risks

Our risk management process
The Board of AMTE Power is responsible for ensuring that 
the management of risks faced by the Group is suitable and 
that internal controls and review processes are effective. 
The internal controls have been put in place to manage risk 
rather than eliminate it and to provide reasonable assurance 
against misstatement and/or loss. The Audit & Risk Committee 
reviews the processes and effectiveness of the controls on 
an annual basis. This is not an exhaustive list of the risks 
faced by the Group and is not necessarily presented in order 
of priority.
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Risk Description Mitigation

1. Commercial The Group is subject to competition from competitors which may develop 
more advanced and less expensive alternative technology platforms. The 
Group is dependent on partners to commercialise products. 

The Group seeks to reduce this risk by continually assessing competitive 
technologies and competitors via a “threat matrix”. The Group seeks to 
commercialise its cells through more specialised markets which are not the 
focus of the traditional volume manufacturers. The Group is focused on multiple 
products with multiple channels to market to reduce over-reliance on individual 
partners. The Group will continue to evolve products, via product development 
activities, to ensure product refresh to a maintain competitive lead.

2. Financial The Group is currently reliant on a small number of significant customers, 
partners and grant funding bodies. Termination of these agreements or 
grant programmes could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
results or operations or financial condition. The Group expects to incur 
operating losses until it is able to manufacture its products at scale, and 
accordingly is reliant on fundraising to support its ongoing activities and 
scale-up plans.

The Group continues to broaden the number of customers and partners, 
thereby reducing reliance on individual significant companies, and by 
leveraging its IP and resources over multiple projects. The Group applies for 
research and development tax credits to help mitigate its investment in these 
activities and reduce impact on cash use. The Group has a track record in 
successfully closing fundraising activities in terms of equity and debt. 

3.  Dependence on senior 
management and key staff 

Certain members of staff are considered vital to the successful 
development of the business. Failure to continue to attract and retain such 
highly skilled individuals could adversely affect operational results. 

The Group seeks to reduce this risk by offering appropriate incentives to staff 
through competitive salary packages and participation in long-term share 
option schemes and a good working environment in an exciting industry. The 
group has also augmented the current skill set of the Leadership team of the 
business by  recruiting a new CEO, CFO and other key positions within the 
organisation.

4. Product development The Group’s success is reliant on the products being developed to time and 
in line with expected performance. The Group faces scheduling risks 
regarding access to the UKBIC as more entities engage with the UKBIC. 

Products are developed in line with best practice in automotive, with gated 
reviews to ensure that the products are developed in collaboration with supply 
chain partners and end users to ensure performance is in line with market 
expectation. The Group has a framework agreement with UKBIC to minimise 
scheduling risks. 

5. Production scale-up The Group will need to scale production to meet its market opportunities 
and deliver its full potential. As the Group is in a buoyant market, there is 
competition for skills, services and equipment to scale up production. 
Processes and business operations will also need to be scaled up, as will 
the supply chain. 

The Group has access to manufacturing through a recently signed production 
agreement with UKBIC alongside it’s existing manufacturing facility at Thurso. 
Initial designs of a larger production facility (“MegaFactory”) have been 
completed including the equipment required, along with cell performance and 
specifications and business financial modelling. Supply chain partnerships 
have been active throughout the design and commercialisation process of 
the cells to mitigate as far as possible the risks of supply chain/raw material 
availability, and a head of supply chain has been appointed. This will be 
complemented with a new appointment to strategically lead further supply 
chain activities.

Managing and mitigating our key risks continued
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Stakeholder engagement

The Board acknowledges that there is a legal requirement for 
the Group to report on how the Board and its Committees 
have considered the requirements of s.172 of the Companies 
Act 2006 in their decision making.

A director of a company must act in the way they consider, in 
good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of 
the company for the benefit of its members and, in doing so, 
have regard (amongst other matters) to the following factors:

	› the likely consequences of any decision on the long term;

	› the interests of the company’s employees;

	› the need to foster the company’s business relationships 
with suppliers, customers and others;

	› the impact of the company’s operations on the community 
and the environment;

	› the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation 
for high standards of business conduct; and

	› the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the direction, 
management, performance and long-term sustainable 
success of the Group. It sets the Group’s strategy and 
objectives, considering the interests of all its stakeholders. A 
good understanding of the Group’s stakeholders enables the 
Board to factor the potential impact of strategic decisions on 
each stakeholder group into boardroom discussions. 
By considering the Group’s purpose, vision and values 
together with its strategic priorities the Board aims to make 
sure that its decisions are fair. The Board has always, both 
collectively and individually, taken decisions for the long term 
and consistently aims to uphold the highest standards of 
business conduct.

Board resolutions are always determined with reference to 
the interests of the Group’s employees, its business 
relationships with suppliers and customers, and the impact of 
its operations on communities and the environment.

During the year, the key decisions taken by the Board 
included:

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors to 
take into consideration the interests of stakeholders and 
other matters in their decision making. The Directors continue 
to have regard to the interests of the Group’s employees and 
wider stakeholders, including the impact of its activities on 
the community, the environment and the Group’s reputation, 
when making decisions.

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s principal 
stakeholders and how it engages with them alongside the 
Group’s dedicated PR and IR consultants and through its 
retained brokers.

This is achieved through information provided by 
management and also by direct engagement with 
stakeholders themselves.

Investors 

Aim 
To communicate and secure support for our long-term 
strategic objectives effectively and to promote long-term 
holdings. 

Engagement Mechanism 
The Group will continue communication through the AGM, 
analyst presentations, RNSs, institutional investor 
presentations, capital markets day for institutions and retail 
investors and the use of digital platforms including Investor 
Meet and Directors Talk to extend reach to retail investors. 

Achievements in period 
The group has provided trading statements and RNS 
communications throughout the year. Each RNS has had an 
analyst note to provide independent view on the impact of 
the announcements made. These communications have been 
complimented by a number of social media and PR activities 
designed to provide clear communications on key decisions 
and achievements The Group has made.

Community and environment 

Aim 
To ensure activities are socially and environmentally 
responsible and meet the highest standards. 

Engagement Mechanism 
AMTE Power have a number of Science, Technology 
Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) ambassadors who 
work with local schools and colleges particularly in the 
highlands of Scotland. Students are encouraged to work with 
AMTE Power on collaborative projects and gain work 
experience with the Group as part of their personal 
development. 

Achievements in period 
Acceptance of the London Stock Exchange Green Economy 
Classification and Mark awarded to companies that 
contribute to the global green economy. Development of 
battery products which are pivotal to meeting. 

Active relationships with local college, manufacturing new 
masks to NHS Trusts.

Employees

Aim 
To deliver our long-term strategic objectives and meet our 
near term targets. To promote our culture, purpose and 
values and support their well-being whilst maintaining low 
turnover and high productivity rates. 

Engagement Mechanism 
Transparent cascading of Key Performance Measures that 
link directly to the Group objectives. Yearly performance 
evaluations with objective setting and reviews including 
behaviours against the Group’s values. Formal policies and 
procedures to provide strong governance. The Group also 
has a safety first policy. 

Achievements in period 
Alongside a range of “townhall” style meetings to 
communicate to employees, The Group has also performed 
an employee engagement survey and fed back actions to be 
taken to address issues raised. 
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Customers 

Aim 
To support the expansion of our opportunity base as we 
move towards supply. 

Engagement Mechanism 
The Group will continue communication through PR and trade 
media articles, as well as attendance at significant trade 
shows. 

Achievements in period 
The Group has signed 5 MoUs and collaboration agreements 
in the period focussed on automotive, and has secured an 
initial order within the energy storage market. These 
complement the existing supply and development agreement 
within specialised markets. 

Suppliers 

Aim 
To develop a secure supply base as we move towards 
commercialisation. 

Engagement Mechanism 
The Group will continue to communicate its products through 
relevant international trade shows to heighten supply base 
awareness. The group will continue to leverage existing 
supply chain networks to maintain existing, and develop new, 
relationships. 

Achievements in period 
Head of Procurement has developed a strategic plan to 
leverage existing networks. New suppliers have been 
identified and samples have been supplied for evaluation. 
The Group has also joined the Australian programme 
“Pathfinder” through its Australian JV which is a programme 
designed to develop new supply chains. The group has 
signed an agreement with the UKBIC to produce 60,000 Ultra 
High Power units per annum.
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The financial performance and position of the Group during 
the year ended 30 June 2022 reflects the Group’s continued 
focus on the development of its cells with the aim of 
progressing towards commercialisation. Increased costs were 
incurred due to substantial work undertaken on cell 
development including at the UK Battery Industrialisation 
Centre, addressing and progressing through the continued 
challenges faced in achieving product milestones. 

During the year the Group undertook a significant exercise to 
re-evaluate the medium term commercial strategy, resulting 
in the Group opting for a 0.5GW MegaFactory to manufacture 
its high value Ultra High Power and Ultra Safe cells. Focusing 
on high value cell manufacture in such a MegaFactory 
enables AMTE Power to generate good returns at a smaller 
scale with associated lower capital investment, and much 
quicker build and commissioning timeframes.

Trading performance
Revenue increased by 10% to £2.2m for the year ended 
30 June 2022 (2021: £2.0m), which comprises of a 53% increase 
in Grant income to £2.0m (2021: £1.3m) and a 65% reduction in 
commercial income to £0.2m (2021: £0.7m). This swing from 2021 
to 2022 reflects the Group’s focus on developing its cells, 
progress towards completion and commercialisation.

The Gross margin for the year ended 30 June 2022 was a 
14% loss compared to a 16% profit for the comparative year, a 
result of the change in revenue mix mentioned earlier.

Operating losses for the year ended 30 June 2022 increased 
to £5.8m (2021: loss of £3.6m), predominantly due to increased 
workforce costs, energy costs, and corporate expenditure 
relating to being listed on the London Stock Exchange 
AIM market.

Expensed net finance costs were £233k for the year ended 
30 June 2022 (2021: £246k). The finance costs include interest 
recognised from lease liabilities over right-of-use assets as 
well as interest arising from licence obligations that have not 
been capitalised to cell development intangible asset. 

Adjusted EBITDA moved to a loss of £6.2m (2021: loss of £3.1m). 
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating losses after all 
amortisation, depreciation, fair value movement in 
derivatives, movement in provisions and equity settled 
share-based payments have been added back and 
payments against licence obligations and liabilities for 
right-of-use property assets deducted.

The Group was a recipient of R&D tax claims, resulting in a 
positive tax charge of £159k for the year (2021: £105k). As the 
business is currently loss making, there is no corporation tax 
payable on earnings. 

The basic and diluted loss per share for the year to 30 June 
2021 was 16.33 pence (2021: 12.59 pence loss). 

Cash movement
Our cash position at the end of the year was £0.9m in 
addition to a 12 month term deposit of £2m which expired and 
was released to cash on 7 July 2022, which was not defined 
as Cash and Cash Equivalents under IFRS (2021: £9.3m). 
Operating activities resulted in £5.2m of cash outflow for the 
period to 30 June 2022 (2020: £2.5m). Investment in PPE was 
£0.4m (2021: £0.3m) and funding on intangible assets was 
£1.0m (2021: £0.7m). Financing of borrowings, asset financing 
and licence obligations totalled £1.0m (2021: £0.9m). The Group 
received proceeds from the issue of shares of £0.8m largely 
as a result the exercise of staff options during the year.

Research and development
Development formed a material part of the Group’s 
activities this year, with a significant portion relating to the 
development of the Group’s products. The Group 
capitalised development costs of £3.6m for the year (2021: 
£3.1m) in relation to its products where it believes there are 
suitable, near and mid-term sales opportunities. 

The Group had qualifying research and development costs 
of £1.4m (2021: £1.6m) against which it secured both R&D tax 
credits (recognised as tax relief) and R&D expenditure 
credits (recognised as other income and taxed accordingly). 

Capital Reduction
During the year the Group’s share premium account was 
reduced by £21,130,392 as approved by shareholders at the 
AGM held on Wednesday 17 November 2021. The 
cancellation was to remedy an administrative oversight of 
not filing certain documents to Companies House within the 
required time frame prior to the Company listing on the 
London Stock Exchange AIM market.

Going concern
As at 30 June 2022 the Group had cash and cash equivalents 
of £0.9m plus a term deposit of £2m which expired and was 
released to cash on 7 July 2022. On 4 November 2022 the 
Group agreed a £5m convertible bond facility with Arena 
Investors, LP subject to a maximum £4m principal being 
outstanding at any time. This funding will be drawn down over 
the period to March 2023 and is expected to amount to 
c. £3.9 after expenses and fees.

As detailed in Note 1 in Notes to the Group Financial 
Statements, the Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast 
for the period ending 31 December 2023, which shows that the 
Group will need to raise further funds to meet its obligations 
as and when they fall due, in order to continue meeting 
planned milestones within the production plans for the 
Group’s key products.

Based on current forecasts, additional funding will need to be 
raised from third parties by April 2023 in order to meet current 
operating cost projections. The Group is currently in 
advanced discussions with a number of parties to secure 
further funding resources, which the Directors believe will be 
sufficient to continue operations with minimal disruption until 
June 2023. At this point the Directors plan to raise further 
finance which will be predicated on meeting the milestones 
within the production plans for each of the Group’s three core 
cells. The Directors are confident of fundraising prospects at 
this point upon progress towards production milestones.

James Hobson
Chief Financial Officer
30 November 2022
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David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair 

Appointed: 14 April 2020

Appointed Chair on 14 April 2020, David has had 
wide-ranging board and senior management 
experience in a number of industries. Having 
trained as a chartered accountant with KPMG, he 
then spent over 20 years with Johnson Matthey plc, 
a global precious metals and chemicals business, 
and was executive director for Corporate 
Development from 1999 to 2009. He is chairman of 
Nova Pangaea Holdings Limited, a biofuels 
business, and a non-executive director of 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust. He was 
previously the senior independent director at the 
Royal Mint, deputy chair of SFC Energy AG and chair 
of Hargreaves Services plc, as well as a director of 
two venture backed start-ups, Econic Technologies 
Ltd and Phosphonics Ltd. His career has involved 
both general and financial management and he 
has international mergers and acquisitions and 
business development experience. 

Relevant skills
	›  Wealth of public and private company experience 
	›  Experience in renewables sector 
	›  Chair or non-executive director of a number of 

companies 

Current appointments
	›  Nova Pangaea Holdings Limited
	›  Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 

Alan Hollis
Chief Executive Officer 

Appointed: 31 October 2022

Alan Hollis has a 20 year public company 
track record of developing and executing 
profitable growth strategies within 
engineering and manufacturing businesses 
with turnovers ranging from £4m-£200m. In 
his last two roles he was a Divisional CEO in 
Videndum (Vitec) Group plc (“Videndum”) 
from 2015 to 2021, and a Divisional President in 
the UK in NYSE listed Crane Co. from 2014 to 
2015. In Videndum, one of Alan’s portfolio 
businesses was the market leading cine and 
broadcast battery design & manufacturer 
Anton Bauer. Previously, Alan held leadership 
roles within the automotive and aerospace 
component and system supply businesses 
Doncasters Group, Firth Rixson and the PFW 
Group, as well as in the materials businesses 
of Delloro Stellite and Weir plc.

Relevant skills
	›  20+ years experience across all business 
functions including the build out of new 
production facilities

Current appointments
	›  Pomeroys Interim Ltd

James Hobson
Chief Financial Officer 

Appointed:  4 October 2021  
(Resigning 30 November 2022)

James joined the Board on the 4 October 2021 
and assumed the role of CFO following the 
conclusion of the Company’s AGM on the 17 
November 2021. Prior to joining AMTE Power, 
James was CFO of ADC Energy UK, a clean 
technology company commercialising new 
DC microgrid technology powered by 
batteries. Between 2006 and 2019, he worked 
for GCM Resources plc, the AIM quoted 
mining and energy company, holding several 
senior positions and for the last 7 years as 
CFO. James is a Fellow Chartered Accountant 
and graduated from the University of 
Tasmania in 1998.

Relevant skills
	› Qualified accountant with 20+ years of 
financial experience across accounting, 
corporate advisory and fundraising
	› Experience in energy transition sector
	› Strong experience in AIM listed environment

Anita Breslin
Board Director and  
Chief Financial Officer Designate
Appointed: 28 November 2022 

Anita brings more than 20 years’ experience 
in financial and commercial operations, most 
recently as Group Finance Director at Blue 
International Group, a privately owned 
Integrated mining, energy, and infrastructure 
business in Sub-Sahara Africa. Prior to this, 
Anita worked at Joule Africa, a renewable 
energy business as Interim CEO and CFO and 
has also held senior roles at Vattenfall Heat 
UK Ltd and BG Group plc.

Relevant skills
	› 20+ years experience in the energy and 
renewable energy sectors, in senior 
leadership roles, both commercial and 
financial
	› Experienced in small and large private and 
plc growth focussed organisations
	› Qualified accountant (FCA)

Our experienced leadership team
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Kevin Brundish
Strategy Director
Appointed: 10 June 2014

Kevin, together with various colleagues, 
founded AMTE Power in 2013. He has over 25 
years’ experience within public and private 
companies and has experience of fund 
raising and mergers and acquisitions. Kevin 
qualified as a Chartered Engineer and has 
worked for and with world leading 
engineering groups such as QinetiQ, Rolls 
Royce plc and Siemens AG, and has taken a 
number of technologies and businesses 
through concept, design and into production. 
He is a member of the Faraday Challenge 
advisory board and has been part of the 
industry group advising the top tier of UK 
Government on energy storage.

Relevant skills
	› 20+ years focused on energy-related 
companies, both large multinationals 
and SME growth companies

Current appointments
	› Bardan Cells Ltd
	› MEP Technologies Limited

Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC
Senior Independent Director 
Appointed: 1 June 2020

Lord Thurso joined the Board on 1 June 2020, 
having served on a number of listed company 
boards and has been a senior independent 
director and remuneration committee chair. 
Following a career in the hospitality industry, 
he entered politics and was the Member of 
Parliament for Caithness, where the Thurso 
facility is located. He served on the Treasury 
Select Committee and the Parliamentary 
Banking Standards Commission. He is 
currently Chair of VisitScotland and sits in the 
House of Lords. Lord Thurso is currently a 
director of six other private companies.

Relevant skills
	› Broad public, private and government 
experience
	› Strong connections with the UK and 
Scottish Governments

Current appointments
	› Visit Scotland (chair)
	› North Highland Regeneration Fund (chair)
	› Ulbster Estates (Sporting) Limited 
	› Ulbster Holdings Limited

Adam Park
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 27 October 2016

Adam joined the Board in October 2016. Adam 
is the Chief Operating Officer of Renaissance 
Capital Partners, the family office, which is 
focused on disruptive technologies, of 
Kenneth Randall. Adam, who has general 
management experience across several 
industry sectors, is currently a director of 
Clearpath Consultancy Limited, Concured 
Limited and was formerly a director at Anna 
Alla Limited.

Relevant skills
	› COO of Renaissance Capital Partners, a 
family office focused on investing in 
disruptive technologies

Current appointments
	› Clearpath Consultancy Limited
	› Concured Limited

Alyson Levett
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 14 January 2021

Alyson joined the Group as a Non-Executive 
Director on 16 January 2021. She was Chief 
Financial Officer of AIM quoted i-nexus Global 
PLC where she had a strategic role and 
day-to-day responsibility for planning, 
implementing, managing and controlling all 
finance-related activity. Alyson has an 
extensive background in finance, including as 
finance director of Griffin Internet prior to its 
acquisition by MDNX in 2012. Alyson was also a 
director of AML Financial Consultancy Limited, 
through which she provided consultancy 
services to businesses on a range of finance 
related matters. She has a Masters degree in 
Economics from Cambridge University and is 
a qualified chartered accountant.

Relevant skills
	› Strong knowledge of public sector 
companies within AIM
	› Accounting and audit-related experience 
relevant for AIM companies
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Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration policy has been designed to ensure that Executive Directors receive appropriate incentive and reward given their performance, responsibility and experience. When 
assessing this, the Remuneration Committee seeks to ensure that the policy aligns the interests of the Executive Directors with those of shareholders. The remuneration policy bears in mind 
the Group’s appetite for risk and is aligned to the Group’s long term strategic goals. The remuneration policy for Executive Directors is to:

	@ consider the individual’s experience and the nature, complexity and responsibilities of their work to set a competitive salary that attracts and retains management of the highest quality;

	@ link individual remuneration packages to the Group’s long-term performance through long-term share-based plans; and

	@ provide post-retirement benefits through payment into defined contribution pension schemes.

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Executive members of the Board in consultation with the Chair, based on a review of current practices in other 
equivalent companies. Two of the Non-Executive Directors are paid through PAYE and also receive pension contributions; however, they do not participate in any of the bonus schemes. 
Remuneration is based on a fixed fee, and there were no additional consulting services.

Name Salary/fee Bonus Other
Total 

compensation

Share-based 
payment
expense

Group pension
 contribution

Total – 
30 June 2022

Total – 
30 June 2021 

David Morgan** £50,000 — — £50,000 — — £50,000 £36,667

Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC* £25,000 — — £25,000 — — £25,000 £16,333

Alyson Levett £25,000 — — £25,000 — £750 £25,750 £9,982

Adam Park* £25,000 — — £25,000 — — £25,000 £16,333

Kevin Brundish £115,000 — — £115,000 — £3,450 £118,450 £147,213

James Hobson
(appointed 4 Oct 2021) £89,538 — — £89,538 — £1,800 £91,338 —

Adam Westcott 
(resigned 17 Nov 2021) £52,603 — — £52,603 £5,200 £1,578 £59,381 £277,255

Nicholas Briers 
(resigned 16 Dec 2020) — — — — — — — £6,000

Paul Tillett 
(resigned 16 Dec 2020) — — — — — — — £46,350

Total £382,141 — — £382,141 £5,200 £7,578 £394,919 £556,133

*  Paid through a company.

**  David Morgan subscribed for 286,715 shares at par value on 20 January 2021 which are, pursuant to the terms of a subscription agreement, subject to clawback by the Group on the occurrence of certain events prior to the second anniversary of his 
appointment as Chair of the Group.
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The share-based payment included in the table above is the fair value of the share options that have vested during the period in accordance with the requirements set out under IFRS 2.

Directors and their interests
The beneficial interests of Directors and their families in the equity share capital of the Company at period end were:

Director 30 June 2022 30 June 2021

David Morgan 296,715 286,715
Adam Park* 31,513 25,263
Alyson Levett** 6,261 —
John Thurso*** 5,000 —
James Hobson 5,000 —
Kevin Brundish 1,985,940 1,980,940

* Holding through Clearpath Consultancy Limited.

** Holding through Integrated Financial Arrangements.

*** Holding through Ulbster Holdings.

**** Holding through IG Markets.

On 30 June 2022 the Directors’ interests over options were:

Name
30 June

2021

Options  
granted 
in years

Options  
exercised  

in year
30 June

2022
Exercise

price

Date from  
which

exercisable Expiry date Type

Kevin Brundish 78,195 — — 78,195 £0.73 16 Dec 2020 15 Dec 2030 EMI Option

Adam Westcott 108,671 — 108,671 — £0.63 — — —

Adam Westcott 452,417 — 447,917 — £0.73 — — —

None of the other Directors had a direct interest over share capital during the reporting period.

Board changes
Details of changes to the membership of the Board are disclosed within the Directors’ interests and their remuneration.
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The Board is responsible for ensuring 
the long-term success of the Group 
and is committed to delivering 
leadership through good governance 
and accountability for the benefit and 
protection of our shareholders and 
other stakeholders.”

The role of the Board
The Board is responsible for the overall management of the 
Group, including the formulation and approval of the Group’s 
long-term objectives and strategy, the approval of budgets, 
the oversight of Group operations, the maintenance of sound 
internal control and risk management systems and the 
implementation of Group strategy, policies and plans. While 
the Board may delegate specific responsibilities, there is a 
formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for decision 
by the Board. Such reserved matters include, amongst other 
things, approval of significant capital expenditure, material 
business contracts and major corporate transactions. The 
Board meets regularly to review performance. 

With effect from admission, the Board established an audit 
and risk committee (the “Audit & Risk Committee”) and a 
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”). 
Given the size of the Board, it does not intend to establish a 
separate nominations committee and recommendations for 
appointments to the Board will be considered by the Board 
as a whole after due evaluation. 

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management to the 
Chief Executive Officer.

The table below shows the number of Board and Committee 
meetings of the Group held during the year, and the 
attendance of the individual Directors.

Board 
Audit & Risk
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Chair
David

 Morgan
Alyson 
Levett

Viscount 
Thurso

David Morgan 10/10 3/3 2/2
Viscount Thurso 10/10 3/3 2/2

Alyson Levett 10/10 3/3 2/2
Adam Park 9/10 3/3 2/2

Kevin Brundish 10/10 3/3 2/2
Adam Westcott 
(resigned 4 Oct 
2021) 3/10 1/3 —
James Hobson 
(joined 4 Oct 
2021) 6/10 2/3 2/2

 

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee is chaired by Alyson Levett. Its 
other members are Viscount Thurso, David Morgan and Adam 
Park. The Audit & Risk Committee will have primary 
responsibility for monitoring the quality of internal controls 
and ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is 
properly measured and reported on. It will receive and review 
reports from the Group’s management and auditors relating 
to the interim and annual accounts and the accounting and 
internal control systems in use throughout the Group. 

Further, the Audit & Risk Committee will advise the Board on 
the Group’s overall risk appetite and strategy including, inter 
alia, regularly reviewing and updating (if appropriate) the risk 
assessment processes in place, including in relation to 
remuneration and compliance functions, and assisting in 
overseeing implementation of the adopted strategy. 

The Audit & Risk Committee will meet at least twice a year 
and will have unrestricted access to the Group’s auditors.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee will be chaired by Viscount 
Thurso. Its other members will be David Morgan, Adam Park 
and Alyson Levett. The Remuneration Committee will make 
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the 
remuneration and terms of employment of the Executive 
Directors. The Remuneration Committee will also make 
recommendations to the Board on proposals for the granting 
of share options and other equity incentives pursuant to any 
share option scheme or equity incentive scheme in operation 
from time to time. The remuneration and terms and conditions 
of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors of the Group 
will be set by the Board.

Make-up of the Group’s Committees

Director
Audit & Risk
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

David Morgan (NED) Member Member
Viscount Thurso (NED) Member Chair
Adam Park (NED) Member Member
Alyson Levett (NED) Chair Member
Kevin Brundish (CEO) Attendee Attendee
Adam Westcott (Director) Attendee —
James Hobson (CFO) Attendee —

David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair
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QCA Corporate Governance Code
The Board is committed to achieving high standards of governance commensurate with the size and stage of development. As an AIM-listed company, the principles of the Quoted 
Companies Alliance Corporate Governance Code (the “QCA Code”) have been adopted taking in to account the stage of development, resources available and the size of 
the Group.

The QCA Code recommends at least two members of the Board are Non-Executive Directors determined by the Board to be independent. The Board currently comprises six Directors, of whom 
two are Executive and four are Non-Executive. The Board considers three of the Non-Executives, being David Morgan, Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC and Alyson Levett, to be independent and, as 
such, the Group complies with the requirements of the QCA Code in this regard. 

In accordance with the QCA Code, the Board has appointed Viscount Thurso to be the Senior Independent Director. The Senior Independent Director should be available to shareholders if 
they have concerns over an issue that the normal channels of communication (through the Chair, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer) have failed to resolve or for which 
such channels of communication are inappropriate. 

The QCA Code identifies ten principles to be followed to deliver growth in long-term shareholder value by ensuring that the management framework is efficient, effective and dynamic, 
supported by good stakeholder communication to promote confidence and trust.

Establish a strategy and 
business model that 
promote long-term value 
for shareholders

The Group has a stated strategy document developed by the executive team, which details the key aims and objectives of the business. This is subsequently 
approved by the Board.

The management team, led by the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for implementing the strategy and managing the business at an operational level. As 
a result this document is further distilled into more detailed plans through which the business is managed on a day-to-day basis.

The principal objective is to develop battery cell technologies and target specialised, underserved markets. 

Seek to understand and 
meet shareholder needs 
and expectations

AMTE Power seeks to maintain a regular dialogue with both existing and potential shareholders to communicate strategy and progress, and to understand 
the needs and expectations of shareholders.

The annual general meeting of the Group provides the Directors with the opportunity to report to shareholders on current and proposed operations and 
developments, and enables shareholders to express their views of AMTE Power’s business activities.

Beyond the annual general meeting, the Chief Executive Officer and other members of the senior management team meet regularly with investors and 
analysts to provide them with updates on the business and to obtain feedback regarding the market’s expectations of AMTE Power.

AMTE Power’s investor relations activities encompass dialogue with both institutional and private investors and are co-ordinated by the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

Take into account wider 
stakeholder and social 
responsibilities and 
their implications for 
long-term success

The technology and future products being generated by the Group have a significant strategic role as the world moves towards net zero carbon targets. 

In order to achieve this and align it with our long-term goals we engage across all of our stakeholders, including government, suppliers and customers, to help 
develop a suitable environment through which these technologies and solutions are adopted on a large scale. To this end we seek to actively participate in 
trade associations, global lobbying groups and government forums. 

The Board is aware of its corporate social responsibilities and the need to maintain effective working relationships across a range of stakeholder groups. These 
include employees, clients, suppliers and shareholders. The Group’s operations and working methodologies aim to balance the needs of these stakeholder 
groups while maintaining focus on the Board’s primary responsibility to promote the success of AMTE Power for the benefit of its members as a whole.

Embed effective risk 
management, considering 
both opportunities and 
threats, throughout the 
organisation

The Group currently utilises a mixture of strategy plans and business plans to derive the key focuses of the business and the direction it should head in. The 
Group continues to evolve its risk management processes to align them and the business with the strategy laid out for it. 

The Group has established an Audit & Risk Committee that will oversee, amongst other things, the risks facing the Group and the effectiveness of the systems 
seeking to manage and mitigate those risks. It is through this set-up that the business seeks to evolve the risk management processes and framework it 
currently operates.
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Principles of the QCA Code continued

Maintain the Board as a 
well-functioning, balanced 
team led by the Chair

The objective is to maintain a Board balanced between Executive and Non-Executive Directors with an appropriate mix between technology, engineering, 
governance and commercial experience. 

The Board has a healthy split of NEDs (four, of which three are independent) and EDs (two). The Board includes an independent Non-Executive Chair who is 
responsible for leadership of the Board and ensuring all aspects of its role. The Board meets regularly and is provided with information on a timely basis. It 
also seeks to develop and improve the information flow of the business to better inform it of the progress, challenges and opportunities it faces. The Board 
has established Committees covering audit and risk and remuneration and as required a nominations committee. The ED’s are expected to have a full time 
commitment to the Group and the NED’s time commitment is expected to be approximately 2 days per month.

The Board considers itself to be sufficiently independent and adheres to the QCA Code recommendation that a board should have at least two independent 
non-executive directors.

Ensure that, between them, 
the Directors have the 
necessary up-to-date 
experience, skills and 
capabilities

The Board has a broad experience of sector, financial and public market skills, with three individuals all having served on public companies in the past. 

The Board considers that the Non-Executive Directors are of sufficient competence and calibre to add strength and objectivity to its activities, and bring 
considerable experience in scientific, operational and financial development of clean technology products and companies.

The Board fully subscribes to the principle of diversity across the Board and the wider business, and endeavours to make sure that actions across the 
business continue to support the Board’s commitment to diversity.

The Board regularly reviews the composition of the Board to ensure that it has the necessary breadth and depth of skills to support the ongoing development 
of the Group. The Chair, in conjunction with the Chief Executive Officer, ensures that the Directors’ knowledge is kept up to date on key issues and 
developments, its operational environment and the Directors’ responsibilities as members of the Board.

Evaluate Board 
performance based 
on clear and relevant 
objectives, seeking 
continuous improvement

The Chair reviews and appraises the performance of the Directors to determine the effectiveness and performance of each member with regards to their 
specific roles as well as their role as a Board member in general.

The appraisal system seeks to identify areas of concern and make recommendations for any training or development to enable the Board member to meet 
their objectives.

As well as the appraisal process, the Board monitors the Non-Executive Directors’ independence to ensure that a suitable balance of independent Non-
Executive and Executive Directors remains in place.

Promote a corporate 
culture that is based on 
ethical values and 
behaviours

The Board and the Group have a continued emphasis on setting clear and strong cultural values that are based on sound ethical values and behaviours. 

This is established through the actions of the Board and the SMT, beginning with the selection criteria used in employee recruitment and also embodied within 
the employee handbook.

The Board seeks to maintain the highest standards of integrity and probity in the conduct of the Group’s operations. There is zero tolerance to all forms of 
discrimination. The Board ensures expected behaviours are followed by the adoption of and compliance with internal policies on matters such as anti bribery 
and whistle-blowing. The results of a recent employee engagement questionnaire are being evaluated.

Maintain governance 
structures and processes 
that are fit for purpose and 
support good decision 
making by the Board

The Group has established governance structures and processes that are suitable for a company of its size and complexity.

The Board has overall responsibility for promoting the success of the Group.

	@ The Non-Executive Directors are responsible for bringing independent and objective judgement to Board decisions. There is a clear separation of the roles 
of Chief Executive Officer and Non-Executive Chair.

	@ The Chair is responsible for overseeing the running of the Board, ensuring that no individual or group dominates the Board’s decision making and ensuring 
the Non-Executive Directors are properly briefed on matters. The Chair has overall responsibility for corporate governance matters. 

The Executive Directors have day-to-day responsibility for the operational management of the activities. The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility 
for implementing the strategy of the Board and managing day-to-day business activities. 
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Communicate how the 
Company is governed 
and is performing by 
maintaining a dialogue 
with shareholders and 
other relevant stakeholders

The Group has typically sought to engage with its shareholders on a regular basis twice a year, through meetings where it will demonstrate the progress of its 
technology and report on key metrics (financial and non-financial).

The Group has also retained two communication firms, one focused on industry and trade relationships and one focused on investor and shareholder 
relationships, to ensure that there are clear communication strategies to the various stakeholders. The Group also continually reviews its IR strategy and the 
coverage it has from analysts within the market.

The Board has also established an informal Publicity & Disclosures sub-committee to monitor and manage the information going out to ensure that a 
consistent message is provided to stakeholders. The Group also has the publicity guidelines in place to guide this group.

Employees
The Group’s organisational structure has been clearly 
documented and communicated identifying levels of 
responsibility, delegated authority and reporting procedures, 
to provide clear guidance to employees. The professionalism 
and competence of employees is maintained through 
recruitment, performance appraisal, written job descriptions, 
personal training and development plans.

The Board supports the highest levels of commitment values, 
appropriate behaviour and integrity from employees. 
Expected standards of behaviour are set out in the Employee 
Handbook, a copy of which is available to all employees. The 
Group is an equal opportunities employer and it is our policy 
to ensure that all job applicants and employees are treated 
fairly and on merit, regardless of their race, gender, marital 
status, age, disability, religious belief or sexual orientation. In 
common with many organisations we operate a performance 
appraisal system, the aim of which is to support employees to 
contribute fully to the organisation and to assist them to fulfil 
their potential. The Group encourages the involvement of its 
employees in its performance through its EMI Option plan.

Relations with shareholders
The Board considers effective communication with 
shareholders to be very important and encourages regular 
dialogue with investors. Shareholders will be given at least 21 
days’ notice of the annual general meeting, at which they will 
have the opportunity to discuss the Group’s development and 
performance. The Group’s website, www.amtepower.com, 
contains full details of the Group’s activities, strategy, 
products, press releases, Regulatory News Service 
announcements, share price details and other information.

Maintenance of a sound system of internal control
The Directors have overall responsibility for ensuring that the 
Group maintains a system of internal control to provide them 
with a reasonable assurance that the assets of the Group are 
safeguarded, and that shareholders’ investments are 
protected. The system includes internal controls appropriate 
for a company of the size of AMTE Power, and covers 
financial, operational, compliance (including health and 
safety) controls and risk management. Such systems are 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives; any system can provide only 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The process in place for reviewing AMTE Power’s system of 
internal control includes procedures designed to identify and 
evaluate failings and weaknesses, and to ensure that 
necessary action is taken to remedy the failings. The Board 
has considered its policies regarding internal controls, as set 
out in the Code, and undertakes assessments of the major 
areas of the business and methods used to monitor and 
control them. In addition to financial risk, the review covers 
operational, commercial, regulatory and health and safety 
risks. The risk review is an ongoing process with reviews being 
undertaken on a regular basis. The key procedures designed 
to provide an effective system of internal controls that are 
operating up to the date of sign-off of this report are set 
out below.

Control environment
There is an organisational structure with clearly defined lines 
of responsibility and delegation of accountability and 
authority.

David Morgan
Independent Non-Executive Chair
30 November 2022 

Principles of the QCA Code continued
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The Audit & Risk Committee met three times during the year to 
30 June 2022. During these meetings consideration was given 
to the Annual Report, financial disclosures and other relevant 
accounting matters for the Group for the year ended 30 June 
2021, the interim financial statements for the half year to 
31 December 2021 and the audit strategy for the Group’s audit 
coming for the year to 30 June 2022. A further meeting was 
held in November 2022 with regard to the Annual Report, 
financial disclosures and other relevant accounting matters 
for the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022. The Committee 
also considered the impact of existing standards on the 
Annual Report of the Group, as well as the risk assessment 
and management processes within the business.

Other areas to which the Audit & Risk Committee paid specific 
regard to are:

	@ the performance of the finance function;

	@ reviewing the Audit & Risk Committee Terms of Reference; 
and

	@ reviewing the Risk Register.

A summary of the areas in which the Audit & Risk Committee 
was required to exercise judgement is detailed below, with 
further explanation and detail provided in the notes to the 
financial statements: 

	@ going concern;

	@ impairment of assets;

	@ recoverability of internally generated intangible assets 
covering both the IP Rights and the Battery Development 
Costs; and

	@ grant and revenue recognition.

Role of the Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee has primary responsibility for 
assessing and monitoring the quality of the controls present 
within the business and ensuring that the financial 
performance of the Group is properly measured and reported 
on. The Committee receives and reviews reports from both 
the Group’s management and auditors relating to the interim 
and annual accounts.

In addition, the Committee considers the processes and 
methodologies within the business for managing and 
mitigating risk and advises the Board on the Group’s overall 
risk appetite and strategy.

Responsibility of the Audit & Risk Committee
The responsibility of the Committee includes:

	@ monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the 
Group, including its annual and half-yearly reports, interim 
management statements, preliminary announcements and 
any other formal announcement relating to its financial 
performance;

	@ reviewing the content of the Annual Report and Accounts 
and advising the Board on whether, taken as a whole, it is 
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Group’s performance, business model and strategy;

	@ reviewing the adequacy and security of the Group’s 
arrangements for its employees and contractors to raise 
concerns, in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in 
financial reporting or other matters; 

	@ considering and making recommendations to the Board, to 
be put to shareholders for approval at the annual general 
meeting, in relation to the appointment, reappointment and 
removal of the Group’s external auditors;

	@ ensuring that, at least once every ten years, the audit 
services contract is put out to tender to enable the 
Committee to compare the quality and effectiveness of the 
services provided by the incumbent auditors with those of 
other audit firms; 

	@ advising the Board on the Group’s overall risk appetite, 
tolerance and strategy, taking account of the current and 
prospective macroeconomic and financial environment 
and drawing on financial stability assessments such as 
those published by relevant industry and regulatory 
authorities;

	@ reviewing the status of the Group’s Risk Register, and 
making recommendations where appropriate on the 
mitigating actions being taken; and

	@ reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, 
including enquiry of the Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee Report should seek to inform 
shareholders on how the committee has discharged its 
responsibilities and, in particular, does it include:

(a)  what steps the committee has taken to satisfy itself that 
the risk and control framework and processes are 
operating properly

Alyson Levett
Chair, Audit & Risk Committee

Committee members
	@ Alyson Levett (Chair)

	@ David Morgan

	@ Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC

	@ Adam Park

The Audit and Risk Committee 
plays an important part in 
assessing the effectiveness of 
financial reporting and internal 
controls.”
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(b)  where there is not an internal audit function, the 
committee should provide an explanation and details of 
how internal assurance is received, along with how this 
affects the work of the external auditors

External auditors
The external audit function plays an important part in 
assessing the effectiveness of financial reporting and 
internal controls. In turn, the effectiveness and quality of the 
external audit is of key importance, including ensuring that 
sufficient weight is given to any new areas of compliance and 
existing areas of risk as is deemed appropriate for the 
relative size and complexity of the Group’s activities. Our 
Auditors, Saffery Champness LLP, have been in place since 
the beginning of 2021.

There are no contractual restrictions on the choice of the 
external auditors. The Audit & Risk Committee reviews the 
Auditors’ independence and annual fees to ensure they are in 
line with market rates. The Committee also closely monitors 
the nature and level of any non-audit services provided, with 
a policy that such work is not placed with the current auditors 
of the business. Details of fees paid/payable to the auditors 
are set out in note 7.

The Audit & Risk Committee has recommended to the Board 
the reappointment of Saffery Champness for the year 2023.

Finally, the Audit & Risk Committee gave due consideration to 
the need for an internal audit function and concluded it was 
not necessary at this stage but would continue to monitor 
the position.

The external auditors, Saffery Champness LLP, have 
unrestricted access to the Chair of the Audit & Risk 
Committee. Audit & Risk Committee meetings are also 
attended by the external auditors where appropriate and, 
by invitation, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and where appropriate other members of 
senior management.

The committee has satisfied itself that key areas discussed 
have been addressed appropriately within the Annual Report. 
The Committee therefore provided advice to the Board that 
the 2022 annual report and financial statements, taken as a 
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable, providing 
Shareholders with the necessary information to assess  
the Company’s position, performance, business model 
and strategy.

Alyson Levett
Chair, Audit & Risk Committee
30 November 2022
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The remuneration committee comprises the Group’s Non-
Executive Directors Viscount Thurso, David Morgan, Adam 
Park and Alyson Levett. Viscount Thurso chairs the committee.

The roles and responsibilities of the committee are as follows:
	@ To review and recommend to the Board remuneration 
policies which motivate directors and senior executive 
team to support the delivery of business objectives in the 
short, medium, and long term.

	@ To align the interests of the executive directors and senior 
executive team with the interests of long term shareholders.

	@ To ensure the group can recruit, retain and motivate high 
quality executives through packages which are attractive 
and fair, but not excessive.

The committee is responsible for reviewing and 
recommending to the Board remuneration policies and levels 
for the Board and management team including (but not 
limited to) salary, pension, long term incentive plans, share 
options, bonus payments and such other benefits as may be 
offered from time to time.

The committee met 4 times during the year.

Work in 2021/22
	@ The committee employed an independent consultant, 
Ellason LLP who undertook a comprehensive benchmarking 
exercise of Executive salaries and benefit packages. 

	@ The committee began work on recommending an 
appropriate LTIP for the company which is viewed as a key 
retention and motivation tool in the overall package.

	@ The committee recommended updated remuneration policies.

	@ The committee finalised their recommendations following 
the benchmarking exercises.

Focus for 2022/23
	@ The Committee will implement the recommendations of the 
benchmarking exercise and will use the recommendations 
to guide recruitment.

	@ The LTIP will be completed and implemented.

	@ Following the implementation of the benchmarked 
packages and LTIP the Committee will monitor and review 
progress.

Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC
Chair, Remuneration Committee
30 November 2022

On behalf of the Remuneration 
Committee, it is once again my 
pleasure to report to you on 
remuneration matters 
considered by the Committee 
during a year of tremendous 
progress

Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC
Chair, Remuneration Committee

Committee members
	@ Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC (Chair)

	@ David Morgan

	@ Adam Park

	@ Alyson Levett
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The Directors present their Annual Report and audited financial 
statements for AMTE Power plc (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”), for the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Directors believe that the financial statements are fair, 
balanced and understandable.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial period. Under that law the 
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with UK-adopted International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The financial statements are required 
by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Group and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for 
that period. In preparing those financial statements, the 
Directors are required to:

	@ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

	@ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

	@ state whether applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; and

	@ prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 
and Company will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 
in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Group and Company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and 
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the Group’s website (www amtepower com) and 
legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of disclosure to Auditors
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information (as defined by section 418 of the Companies Act 
2006) of which the Group’s Auditors is unaware, and each 
Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken 
as a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Group’s Auditor 
are aware of that information. This confirmation is given and 
should be interpreted in accordance with section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Principal activity and review of business developments
The principal activity of AMTE Power is the development of 
lithium-ion and lithium-ion derivative battery cells to meet 
the needs of specialist customers. Such customers, which 
include manufacturers of high performance vehicles and 
specialist equipment, are not the primary focus of the 
international battery cell manufacturers.

Reviews of operations, business developments and current 
projects are included in the Strategic review.

Results and dividend
The results for the year are set out in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. No dividends were paid in the year. 
The Directors do not intend to declare a dividend in respect 
of the year.

The Board is ultimately 
responsible for the direction, 
management, performance and 
long-term sustainable success 
of the Group.”

Alan Hollis 
Chief Executive Officer
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The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and has taken steps to comply with the principles of the best practice relative to its size. Disclosures have been 
made in accordance with the requirements for companies with securities listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange, which are exempt from the disclosure requirements of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2013 and the UKLA Listing Rules and the disclosure provisions under schedule 8 to SI 2008/410 of the Large and Medium-sized companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.

The Directors who served during the year and during the period up until the signing of these financial statements were: 

Director Title Appointed

David Morgan Independent Non-Executive Chair 14 April 2020
Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC Senior Independent Director 1 June 2020
Alyson Levett Non-Executive Director 14 January 2021
Adam Park Non-Executive Director 27 October 2016
Alan Hollis Chief Executive Officer 31 October 2022
Kevin Brundish Strategy Director 10 June 2014
Adam Westcott Director 16 December 2020*
James Hobson Chief Financial Officer 4 October 2021**
Anita Breslin Director 28 November 2022

* Resigned 17th November 2021 .

** The Group announced in September 2022 that James Hobson was leaving the Group to take up a new role. Anita Breslin will succeed James Hobson when he resigns on 30 November 2022.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, a Director appointed during or after the year must stand for reappointment at the first annual general meeting after such 
appointment. Further, any Director who was not elected or re-elected at either of the two preceding annual general meetings must stand for reappointment at the annual general meeting.

Directors’ service contracts

Director Title
Service

agreement date Notice
Directors

fees/salary

David Morgan Independent Non-Executive Chair 1 March 2021 3 Months £50,000
Rt Hon Viscount Thurso PC Senior Independent Director 1 March 2021 3 Months £25,000
Alyson Levett Non-Executive Director 1 March 2021 3 Months £25,000
Adam Park Non-Executive Director 1 March 2021 3 Months £25,000
Alan Hollis Chief Executive Officer 6 September 2022 6 Months £225,000
Kevin Brundish Strategy Director 1 March 2021 6 Months £115,000
James Hobson Chief Financial Officer 17 September 2021 6 Months £120,000
Anita Breslin Director 11 November 2022 6 Months £182,000
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Capital structure
Details of the Group’s capital structure are provided in notes 
29 and 30 to the financial statements. Shareholder funds have 
been used for the development and testing of battery cells.
On 25 November 2022, the Group was aware of the following 
holdings of 3% or more in the issued share capital of AMTE 
Power:

Shareholder
No. of

shares

Percentage 
of Company’s 

issued share 
capital

Carl Maine 3,767,395 10.4%

Renaissance Capital 
Partners1 2,271,264 6.3%

Steven Farmer 2,203,034 6.1%

Kevin Brundish 1,985,940 5.5%

Thames Temese 
Management Limited 
as Trustee of the 
Thames Trust 1,877,883 5.2%

Ian Whiting 1,786,534 4.9%

John Kinder 1,388,262 3.5%

Simon Philpot 1,388,262 3.2%

1   Includes ordinary shares held by Renaissance Capital Partners Ltd and 
Kenneth Randall. 

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

Political and charitable donations
Charitable donations in the year amounted to £nil (2021: £nil).

Information disclosed in the Strategic report
The following matters required to be disclosed in this report 
under the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 are covered in the 
Strategic Report section.

Payments to creditors
The Group’s policy is to settle the terms of payment with its 
suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, either 
by accepting the suppliers’ terms or by making the suppliers 
aware of alternative terms, and to abide by the agreed terms. 
Trade creditors of the Group at 30 June 2022 represented 
80 days (2021: 73 days) of annual purchases.

Liability insurance for Company officers
The Group maintains Directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance cover for its Directors and officers to the extent 
permitted under the Companies Act 2006.

Research and development
The Group invests substantially in research and development 
and makes claims under the Government’s R&D tax credit 
scheme. In the year to 30 June 2022, relevant qualifying 
expenditure has been estimated at £1.4m (2021: £1.6m).

Going concern
As at 30 June 2022 the Group had cash and cash equivalents 
of £0.9m plus a term deposit of £2m which expired on 7 July 
2022. On 4 November 2022 the Group agreed a £5m 
convertible bond facility with Arena Investors, LP subject to a 
maximum £4m principal being outstanding at any time. This 
funding will be drawn down over the period to March 2023 
and is expected to amount to c. £3.92m after expenses 
and fees.
The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for the 
period ending 31 December 2023, which shows that the Group 
will need to raise further funds to meet its obligations as and 
when they fall due, in order to continue meeting planned 
milestones within the production plans for the Group’s key 
products. Based on current forecasts, additional funding will 
need to be raised from third parties by April 2023 in order to 
meet current operating cost projections. The Company is 
currently in advanced discussions with a number of parties to 
secure further funding resources which the Directors believe 
will be sufficient to continue operations with minimal 
disruption until June 2023. At this point the Directors plan to 
raise further finance which will be predicated on meeting the 
milestones within the production plans for each of the 
Group’s three core cells. The Directors are confident of 
fundraising prospects at this point upon progress to 
production milestones.
While the Directors remain confident that necessary funds 
will be available as and when required, as at the date of this 
report the future required funding arrangements are not 

secured, and accordingly there is material uncertainty that 
may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. The financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial 
statements do not include the adjustments that would result 
if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern. 

Events after the reporting period
After the reporting date:
Subsequent to the year end on 4 November 2022, the 
company authorised the issue of £5,000,000 convertible loan 
notes (“CLN”). The CLN are to be issued in three tranches and 
as at the time of signing, £3,000,000 loan notes have been 
issued through a subscription agreement dated 11 November 
2022, using terms agreed on 14 October 2022; the remaining 
£2,000,000 CLN’s can be drawn at least 60 days after the first 
tranche.
The CLN carry no coupon but are issued at a discount of 8% 
and are redeemable either in cash at a premium of 15% or via 
a conversion to ordinary share capital of the Company at a 
5% discount to specified average recent market prices of 
those shares, within 2 years of drawdown. The CLN will be 
carried as a liability in its entirety in the financial statements, 
and will recognise interest at the estimated effective interest 
rate of 11.8%.
In addition, 1,829,269 warrants have been issued to the CLN 
holders at zero additional cost. The warrants permit a 
subscription for a further £1.5m of ordinary shares at a fixed 
price of £0.8204 per share. These warrants can be exercised 
at any time until the third anniversary. As the grant of 
warrants is at a significant premium to current market value 
and would be accounted for as equity instruments, they are 
expected to have a trivial impact on the financial statements.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint the Auditor of the Group, Saffery 
Champness LLP, will be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting. Saffery Champness LLP has expressed its 
willingness to continue as Auditor of the Group.
This report was approved by the Board on 30 November 2022 
and signed on its behalf by:

Alan Hollis
Chief Executive Officer
30 November 2022
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of AMTE Power plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 30 June 2022 which comprise the group statement of 
comprehensive income, the group and company statement of financial position, the group and company statement of changes in equity, the group statement of cashflows, and the group 
and company notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
UK-adopted international accounting standards. 

In our opinion the financial statements:

	› give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the parent company as at 30 June 2022 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

	› have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and

	› have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our approach to the audit
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we obtained sufficient evidence to support our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the 
group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which it operates. 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we looked at areas where the directors 
made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. 

The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including the allocation of our resources and effort, are discussed under “Key audit matters” within this report.

Our group audit scope included an audit of the group and parent company financial statements.  Based on our risk assessment, all entities within the group were subject to full scope audits 
and these audits were performed by the group audit team.  The components within the scope of our audit work therefore covered 100% of group revenue, group profit before tax and group 
net assets.

At group level we also tested the consolidation process to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial information.

Independent auditor’s report to the members
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most 
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of 
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern
We draw attention to Note 1.4 in the financial statements, which indicates that the group and parent company will need to raise further funds from third parties by April 2023 in order to meet 
current operating cost projections, and at the date of this report the future required funding is not secured. As stated in Note 1.4, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set 
forth in Note 1.4, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the group’s and company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our 
evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group and the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

	› obtaining, critically appraising and assessing for arithmetical accuracy the directors’ formal going concern assessment;

	› reviewing projected cash flows and other available evidence to assess the ability of the group and company to continue in operation for at least 12 months from the date of signing this 
report;

	› considering the group’s prospects for future raising of finance by: examining correspondence with interested parties offering funding by April 2023; and meeting with the company’s 
directors and broker to consider the longer term share placing once key milestones within the production plans for the Group’s three core cells are completed;

	› performing a sensitivity analysis on key assumptions underlying the directors’ going concern assessment, including the timing of commencement of production and the level of expenditure 
on development; and

	› discussion of events after the reporting date with the directors to assess their impact on the going concern assumption, including comparison of the post year end cash balances to 
forecast positions.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Independent auditor’s report to the members continued
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In addition to the Material uncertainty related to going concern above, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in 
our report.

Key Audit Matter How our scope addressed this matter

Carrying value of Development Battery Cells
The Group is investing in its Development Battery Cells which are 
expected to deliver significant shareholder return in the form of revenue 
and profits. The carrying value of costs capitalised was

£11,724,359. There is significant judgement as to:

	› the recoverable amount of the different battery cells being developed;

	› whether the development phase is complete; and

	› the asset life once complete.

The significance of capitalised development costs to the Group and the 
judgements involved regarding the recognition of development assets 
have led us to determine that this is a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

	› We corroborated a sample of costs being capitalised to purchase invoices, verifying the allocation of costs to 
battery cells

	› We compared the accounting policies adopted by the group in relation to capitalisation and amortisation of 
intangibles to the requirements of the accounting standards

	› We considered whether it was appropriate for battery cell development costs to be capitalised, reviewing the 
eligibility against the criteria for capitalisation set out in IAS 38 Intangible Assets

	› We reviewed minutes of meetings and correspondence pertaining to the projects being capitalised to confirm 
management’s judgement that the progress achieved in development met the recognition criteria of the 
accounting standards

	› We challenged management on the estimations adopted for recoverable amount and challenged the 
assumptions in the impairment review

	› We verified that no development products were complete, requiring the commencement of amortisation

Based on the procedures performed, we have not identified any material misstatement arising in the carrying 
value of capitalised development costs.

Value of IP Rights and associated Patent Licence Obligations
The Group is carrying £12,342,954 in its intangible asset relating to IP Rights, 
and £18,354,094 in associated licence liabilities. The carrying value of the 
IP Rights could be impaired were the IP to fail, leaving the group with a 
significant liability but without a viable asset from which to generate 
income.

Should any patent licence contracts be renegotiated, this may also have 
an adverse impact the value of the contractual rights.

As the value of IP Rights are a significant component of the balance sheet, 
we have identified this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

	› We reviewed management’s supporting calculations for any changes to the IP licence balances

	› We corroborated any changes to the licence obligations to the underlying contracts and confirmed these were 
modelled correctly

	› We attended a meeting with management including those responsible for product development, at which we 
discussed and challenged the use of the IP in products under development, and the commercial viability of 
those products, which underpins management’s assessment of the requirement for impairment of the IP rights 
intangible asset

	› We ensured that the accounting policy in the financial statements was appropriate, in accordance with 
accounting standards, and was sufficiently clear to explain the position to users of the financial statements

Based on the procedures performed, we have not identified any material misstatements in relation to the carrying 
value of the IP rights or associated licence obligations.

Other key audit matters

Independent auditor’s report to the members continued
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing our audit, in evaluating the effect of any identified misstatements and in forming our opinion. Our overall objective as auditor 
is to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. We consider a misstatement to be material 
where it could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. 

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of 
testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below this level will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take into account the qualitative nature of identified misstatements, 
and the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement and taking into account the possible metrics used by investors and other readers of the accounts, we have determined an overall group materiality of 
£490,000 based on 1.5% of gross assets as at 30 June 2022.  Materiality of £365,000 was used for the parent company based on the same basis.

Group performance materiality was set at £368,000 representing 75% of overall materiality. The parent company performance materiality was set at £274,000.

We agreed with the Audit Committee to report all individual audit differences in excess of £25,000 in relation to the group and £18,000 for the parent company, being the level below which 
misstatements are considered to be clearly trivial. We also agreed to report any other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

	› the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

	› the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

	› adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

	› the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

	› certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

	› we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Independent auditor’s report to the members continued
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Independent auditor’s report to the members continued

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 40, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the group and parent company financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The specific procedures for this engagement and the extent to which these are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
are detailed below.

Identifying and assessing risks related to irregularities:
We assessed the susceptibility of the group and parent company’s financial statements to material misstatement and how fraud might occur, including through discussions with the directors, 
discussions within our audit team planning meeting, updating our record of internal controls and ensuring these controls operated as intended. We evaluated possible incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements.  We identified laws and regulations that are of significance in the context of the group and parent company by 
discussions with directors and by updating our understanding of the sector in which the group and parent company operate. 

Laws and regulations of direct significance in the context of the group and parent company include The Companies Act 2006, the AIM Rules for Companies and UK Tax legislation. The group 
and parent company also operate in line with indirect legislation specific to battery production, including chemical handling (COSHH), safety testing, environment protection and the Green 
Economy Mark. 

In addition, the group and parent company are subject to other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be 
fundamental to its ability to operate or avoid a material penalty.  These include anti-bribery legislation and employment law.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members continued

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements continued
Audit response to risks identified:
We considered the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our audit procedures on the related financial statement items including a review of group and parent 
company financial statement disclosures. We reviewed the parent company’s records of breaches of laws and regulations, minutes of meetings and correspondence with relevant authorities 
to identify potential material misstatements arising. We discussed the parent company’s policies and procedures for compliance with laws and regulations with members of management 
responsible for compliance.

During the planning meeting with the audit team, the engagement partner drew attention to the key areas which might involve non-compliance with laws and regulations or fraud. We 
enquired of management whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. We addressed the 
risk of fraud through management override of controls by testing the appropriateness of journal entries and identifying any significant transactions that were unusual or outside the normal 
course of business. We assessed whether judgements made in making accounting estimates gave rise to a possible indication of management bias. At the completion stage of the audit, the 
engagement partner’s review included ensuring that the team had approached their work with appropriate professional scepticism and thus the capacity to identify non-compliance with 
laws and regulations and fraud. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in 
the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the parent company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the parent company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the parent company and the parent company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Alistair Hunt (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Saffery Champness LLP 
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditors
Westpoint
Peterborough Business Park
Lynch Wood
Peterborough 
PE2 6FZ
30 November 2022
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2022 2021
Notes £ £

Turnover 4 2,193,759 1,967,348

Revenue 238,084 687,287
Grant income 1,955,675 1,280,061

Cost of sales (2,511,367) (1,645,708)

Gross (loss)/profit (317,608) 321,640
Other operating income 4 478,030 461,396
Administrative expenses (5,916,772) (4,374,028)

Operating loss 5 (5,756,350) (3,590,992)
Investment revenues 10 7,345 3,952
Finance costs 11 (233,307) (245,893)
Other gains and losses 12 (14,547) 23,624

Loss before taxation (5,996,859) (3,809,309)
Income tax income 13 158,749 104,794

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year (5,838,110) (3,704,515)

Loss for the financial year is all attributable to the owners of the parent company.

Total comprehensive income for the year is all attributable to the owners of the parent company.

Earnings per share 14
Basic (pence per share) (16.33) (12.59)
Diluted (pence per share) (16.33) (12.59)

All results were derived from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 12 - 55 form part of these financial statements.

Group statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2022 2021
Notes £ £

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 15 24,067,313 20,998,109
Property, plant and equipment 16 2,362,153 2,235,439
Investments 17 9,079 23,626

26,438,545 23,257,174

Current assets
Inventories 20 714,668 280,666
Investments 17 2,000,000 -
Trade and other receivables 21 2,163,173 1,823,505
Current tax recoverable 379,077 240,000
Cash and cash equivalents 906,917 9,272,416

6,163,835 11,616,587

Current liabilities
Borrowings 23 30,522 20,365
Lease liabilities 26 203,052 147,453
Licence liabilities 27 985,704 676,191
Provisions 28 9,927 -
Derivative financial instruments 3,538 11,466
Trade and other payables 25 2,222,108 957,540
Deferred revenue 29 28,564 28,564

3,483,415 1,841,579

Net current assets 2,680,420 9,775,008

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 23 45,681 75,636
Lease liabilities 26 778,183 853,465
Licence liabilities 27 17,368,390 16,188,357
Long term provisions 28 200,000 209,082
Deferred revenue 29 2,582,685 2,299,682

20,974,939 19,626,222

Net assets 8,144,026 13,405,960

Group statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2022
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Group statement of financial position continued
As at 30 June 2022

2022 2021
Notes £ £

Equity

Called up share capital 32 179,943 176,223
Share premium account 33 200,485 20,808,951
Share option reserve 536,879 821,641
Retained earnings 7,226,719 (8,400,855)

Total equity 8,144,026 13,405,960

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 November 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr A Hollis
Director
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Company statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2022

2022 2021
Notes £ £

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 36 12,794,084 9,476,609
Property, plant and equipment 37 2,353,586 2,173,991
Investments 38 3,053,153 3,067,700

18,200,823 14,718,300

Current assets
Inventories 39 714,668 280,666
Investments 38 2,000,000 -
Trade and other receivables 40 2,122,938 1,769,631
Current tax recoverable 379,077 240,000
Cash and cash equivalents 898,583 9,168,695

6,115,266 11,458,992

Current liabilities
Borrowings 41 30,522 20,365
Lease liabilities 43 203,052 101,360
Licence liabilities 44 335,705 293,192
Derivative financial instruments 3,538 11,466
Trade and other payables 42 7,737,113 4,333,015
Deferred revenue 46 28,564 28,564

8,338,494 4,787,962

Net current (liabilities)/assets (2,223,228) 6,671,030

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 41 45,681 75,636
Lease liabilities 43 778,183 853,465
Licence liabilities 44 1,159,951 1,495,656
Long term provisions 45 200,000 200,000
Deferred revenue 46 2,582,685 2,299,682

4,766,500 4,924,439

Net assets 11,211,095 16,464,891
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Company statement of financial position continued
As at 30 June 2022

2022 2021
Notes £ £

Equity

Called up share capital 32 179,943 176,223
Share premium account 33 200,485 20,808,951
Own shares 536,879 821,641
Retained earnings 10,293,788 (5,341,924)

Total equity 11,211,095 16,464,891

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own income statement and related notes. The company’s loss for the year was £5,829,972 (2021 - 
£3,707,984 loss).

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 November 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr A Hollis
Director

Company Registration No. 08490522
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Share capital

Share 
premium 
account

Share option 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Notes £ £ £ £ £

Balance at 1 July 2020 321 8,067,562 128,052 (4,733,051) 3,462,884
Period ended 30 June 2021:
Loss and total comprehensive for the income period — — — (3,704,515) (3,704,515)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Issue of share capital 32 38,461 13,812,062 — — 13,850,523
Cost of share issues 33 — (1,598,831) — — (1,598,831)
Bonus issue 32 134,548 (134,548) — — —
Warrant expense in the year 31 — (36,928) 36,928 — —
Share option expense in the year 31 — — 979,384 — 979,384
Share option exercise 31 2,893 699,634 (286,012) — 416,515
Share option forfeit 31 — — (36,711) 36,711 —

Balance at 30 June 2021 176,223 20,808,951 821,641 (8,400,855) 13,405,960

Year ended 30 June 2022:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year — — — (5,838,110) (5,838,110)
Capital reduction 33 — (21,130,392) — 21,130,392 —
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Share option expense in the year 31 — — 50,530 — 50,530
Share option exercise 31 3,720 521,926 (331,693) 331,693 525,646
Share option forfeit 31 — — (3,599) 3,599 —

Balance at 30 June 2022 179,943 200,485 536,879 7,226,719 8,144,026

Group statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Share capital

Share 
premium
account

Share option 
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

Notes £ £ £ £ £

Balance at 1 July 2020 321 8,067,562 128,052 (1,670,651) 6,525,284
Period ended 30 June 2021:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year — — — (3,707,984) (3,707,984)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Issue of share capital 32 38,461 13,775,134 — — 13,813,595
Costs of share issue — (1,598,831) — — (1,598,831)
Bonus issue 32 134,548 (134,548) — — —
Share option expense in the year 31 — — 1,016,312 — 1,016,312
Share option exercise 31 2,893 699,634 (286,012) — 416,515
Share option forfeit 31 — — (36,711) 36,711 —

Balance at 30 June 2021 176,223 20,808,951 821,641 (5,341,924) 16,464,891

Year ended 30 June 2022:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year — — — (5,829,972) (5,829,972)
Capital reduction 33 — (21,130,392) — 21,130,392 —
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Share option expense in the year 31 — — 50,530 — 50,530
Share option exercise 31 3,720 521,926 (331,693) 331,693 525,646
Share option forfeit 31 — — (3,599) 3,599 —

Balance at 30 June 2022 179,943 200,485 536,879 10,293,788 11,211,095

Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2022 2021
Notes £ £ £ £

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year after tax (5,838,110) (3,704,515)
Adjustments for:
Share of results of associates and joint ventures 14,547 -
Taxation charged 13 (371,613) 277,128
Finance costs 11 240,391 245,893
Investment income 10 (7,345) 27,576
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 15 152,553 140,562
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and 
equipment 16 397,485 328,537
Equity settled share based payment expense 31 50,530 979,387
Deferred income released (28,514) -
Fair value movement on derivatives (7,928) 7,743
Decrease in provisions 28 845 773
Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories 20 (434,002) 61,533
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables 21 (658,913) 462,456
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 25 1,266,905 292,312

Cash absorbed by operations (5,223,169) (2,538,001)
Interest paid (96,403) (111,362)
Income taxes refunded 232,536 37,128

Net cash outflow from operating activities (5,087,036) (2,612,235)
Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (964,481) (712,215)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16 (368,542) (252,174)
Purchase of investments 38 (2,000,000) -
Government grants received 311,567 430,155
Interest received 7,345 3,952

Net cash used in investing activities (3,014,111) (530,282)

Group statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2022 2021
Notes £ £ £ £

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares (net of share issue costs) 839,173 12,325,120
Repayment of borrowings (19,798) (29,438)
Payment of lease liabilities 26 (175,727) (106,703)
Payment of licence obligations 27 (908,000) (723,615)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (264,352) 11,465,364

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,365,499) 8,322,847
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,272,416 949,569

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 906,917 9,272,416

Note to the statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising form financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing 
activities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 July 2021 Financing cash flows Inception Non-cash interest At 30 June 2022

Borrowings 96,001 (19,798) — — 76,203
Lease liabilities 1,000,918 (175,727) 156,044 — 981,235
IP license liabilities 16,864,548 (908,000) — 2,397,546 18,354,094

17,961,467 (1,103,525) 156,044 2,397,546 19,411,532

At 1 July 2020 Financing cash flows Inception Non-cash interest At 30 June 2022

Borrowings 125,439 (29,438) — — 96,001
Lease liabilities 1,107,621 (106,703) — — 1,000,918
IP licence liabilities 15,096,055 (723,615) 328,861 2,163,247 16,864,548

16,329,115 (859,756) 328,861 2,163,247 17,961,467

Group statement of cash flows continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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1 Accounting policies
Company information 
AMTE Power Plc is a public company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales. The registered office is Suite 1, 3rd Floor, 11-12 St James’s Square, London, SW1Y 4LB. 
The company’s principal activities and nature of its operations are disclosed in the directors’ report.

The group consists of AMTE Power Plc and all of its subsidiaries.

1.1 Accounting convention 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International accounting standards and in conformity with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the group. Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest 
£1.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of certain financial instruments at fair value. The 
principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The parent company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

As permitted by FRS 101, the company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions from the requirements of IFRS:

(a) the requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’;

(b) the requirements within IAS 1 relating to the presentation of certain comparative information;

(c) the requirements of IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ to present a statement of cash flows;

(d)  paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ (requirement for the disclosure of information when an entity has not 
applied a new IFRS that has been issued but it not yet effective); and

(e)  the requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions and balances between two or more members of a group.

As permitted by S408 Companies Act 2006, the Company had not presented its own Statement of Comprehensive Income. The company’s loss for the year was £5,829,972 (2021 
- £3,707,984 loss).

1.2 Business combinations 
The cost of a business combination is the fair value at the acquisition date of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, plus costs directly 
attributable to the business combination. The excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired is recognised as goodwill.

The cost of the combination includes the estimated amount of contingent consideration that is probable and can be measured reliably, and is adjusted for changes in 
contingent consideration after the acquisition date.

Provisional fair values recognised for business combinations in previous periods are adjusted retrospectively for final fair values determined in the 12 months following the 
acquisition date.

Notes to the Group financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.3 Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated group financial statements consist of the financial statements of the parent company AMTE Power Plc together with all entities controlled by the parent 
company (its subsidiaries) and the group’s share of its interests in joint ventures and associates.

All financial statements are made up to 30 June 2022. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies 
used into line with those used by other members of the group.

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Subsidiaries are consolidated in the group’s financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Entities in which the group holds an interest and which are jointly controlled by the group and one or more other venturers under a contractual arrangement are treated as 
joint ventures. Entities other than subsidiary undertakings or joint ventures, in which the group has a participating interest and over whose operating and financial policies the 
group exercises a significant influence, are treated as associates.

Investments in joint ventures and associates are carried in the group statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net 
assets of the entity, less any impairment in value. The carrying values of investments in joint ventures and associates include acquired goodwill.

If the group’s share of losses in a joint venture or associate equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture or associate, the group does not recognise further losses 
unless it has incurred obligations to do so or has made payments on behalf of the joint venture or associate.

1.4 Going concern
As at 30 June 2022 the Group had net assets of £8,144,026 and cash and cash equivalents of £906,917 and a term deposit of £2m. Subsequent to 30 June 2022, on 4 November 
2022 the Group agreed a £5m convertible bond facility with Arena Investors, LP subject to a maximum £4m principal being outstanding at any time. This funding will be drawn 
down over the period to March 2023 and is expected to amount to c. £3.92m after expenses and fees.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for the period ending 31 December 2023, which shows that the Group will need to raise further funds to meet its obligations 
as and when they fall due, in order to continue meeting planned milestones within the production plans for the Group’s key products. Based on current forecasts, additional 
funding will need to be raised from third parties by April 2023 in order to meet current operating cost projections. The Company is currently in advanced discussions with a 
number of parties to secure further funding resources which the Directors believe will be sufficient to continue operations with minimal disruption until June 2023. At this point 
the Directors plan to raise further finance which will be predicated on meeting the milestones within the production plans for each of the Group’s three core cells. The 
Directors are confident of fundraising prospects at this point once the commercial viability of the products is proven.

While the Directors remain confident that necessary funds will be available as and when required, as at the date of this report the future required funding arrangements are not 
secured, and accordingly there is material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern.

1.5 Revenue 

Turnover recognised by the Group consists of commercial revenue and grant income. It is generated from the principal activities of the Group and represents amounts 
(excluding VAT) earned in respect of goods delivered and services rendered to customers net of trade discounts and of grant income awarded against qualifying costs for 
work carried out on pre-agreed project programmes. The Group follows IFRS 15 for its revenue recognition for commercial contracts and treats the grant income under IAS 20.

Revenue recognition policy for commercial contracts under IFRS 15
The Group enters into commercial contracts with customers which stipulate certain deliverables or milestones to be met by the Group during the life of the contract, against 
which payments are to be made to the Group. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group is able to raise invoices for these payments when these milestones have been 
achieved to the satisfaction of both contracting parties.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.5 Revenue continued
Revenue recognition policy for commercial contracts under IFRS 15 continued 
The recognition of the revenue is aligned to the principles based, five-step model set out in IFRS 15 and represents income recognised in respect of goods and services 
provided during the period based on the delivery of performance obligations and assessment of when control is transferred to the customer.

Identification of distinct performance obligations
The majority of the contracts entered into by the Group are bespoke in their structure and deliverables. Therefore at the outset of the contracts the Group identifies the 
distinct performance obligations it promises to transfer to the customer. In certain cases, the performance obligation may be the completion of a cell drawing or a detailed 
delivery plan rather than a physical good. The Group typically agrees payment terms to coincide with the passing of particular milestones.

Satisfying performance obligations over time
In the majority of cases, the performance obligations laid out in the contracts meets the criteria required under IFRS 15 section 35 to enable the performance obligation to be 
satisfied over time rather than at a point in time. Therefore the Group recognises revenue for individual projects each month on a pro rata basis to the costs incurred for the 
performance obligation over the duration of the contract. All costs related to the performance obligation are therefore recognised in the P&L alongside the income.

Duration of contract
The commercial projects are for a defined purpose and expected time frame however the Group may seek permission to extend the life of a project should it feel this is 
required to meet the obligations and deliver the outcome(s) of the project. Should the project be extended, then the expenditure profile looking forward will be extended over 
the new period, however the total value of the contract will not change without agreement from the customer. The revenue profile of the project will also change to mirror the 
new expenditure profile.

Contract modifications
A contract modification takes place with the agreement of the customer(s), which may create new deliverables and outcomes. Revenue is recognised against the actual 
expenditure incurred and a change of contract leading to a change in profit margin may impact on the level of income previously recognised.

Contract modifications may be accounted for as a separate contract if the contract scope changes due to the addition of distinct goods or services.

Recognition of grant income under IAS 20
AMTE Power enters into consortium with partners who together will apply for grant income to be paid out against a project that contains defined deliverables, a defined 
duration, clear outcomes and a set level of expenditure. Each partner agrees a set level of expenditure at the start of the project and a level of grant income paid for by the 
grant provider is allocated for payment against the expenditure incurred by each partner. The deliverables on the project for each partner are linked through a number of work 
streams. Such projects are sought by the Group as they provide funding over one or more work streams that form part of the Group’s programme(s) to deliver new products.

The grant income received by the Group does not constitute a “contract with a customer” and therefore IFRS 15 does not apply. The group therefore applies IAS 20 in how it 
treats the grant income.

Under IAS 20, section 12 “Government grants shall be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related 
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate”

The Group recognises the costs of a project in the period in which they are incurred, and the grant income that is provided against this expenditure is recognised as income in 
the same period. The grant income recognised each month is recorded as accrued income, with a balancing amount recorded in trade receivables. The grant programmes that 
the Group participates in typically operate on a three month cycle, with accrued income over each three month period paid in the month following that period.

Where the expenditure on a product has been capitalised and the matching grant income has been recognised, the grant income matching to the capitalised expenditure will 
be treated as deferred income and included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a liability. It will remain on the balance sheet until such time that it can be 
amortised and recognised.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.5 Turnover continued
Recognition of grant income under IAS 20 continued
Duration of contract
The grant funded projects are for a defined period however the consortium may seek permission to extend the life of a project should it feel this is required to meet the 
obligations and deliver the outcome(s) of the project. Should the project be extended, then the expenditure profile looking forward will be extended over the new period, 
however the total value of the contract will not change. The revenue profile of the project will also change to mirror the new expenditure profile.

The Group does not capitalise the expenditure against the project deliverables but against the new products being developed, of which the project forms just one or more of 
the total product development programme.

Contract modifications
A contract modification takes place with the agreement of the partners and the grant provider, which may create new deliverables and outcomes. Grant income is 
recognised against the actual expenditure incurred and so a change of contract is not expected to impact on the income previously recognised.

Contract modifications may be accounted for as a separate contract if the contract scope changes due to the addition of distinct goods or services.

1.6 Intangible assets other than goodwill
Intangible Assets – IP Rights and Patent Licence Obligations
The Group entered into two licence agreements, which give it the right to utilise the underlying intellectual property (“IP Rights” or “IPR”) provided for in the licences in return for 
making a licence fee payment and also making royalty payments against the sale of products by the Group that relies on the aforementioned IPR.

The Group has valued its access to IPRs based on the present value of the contractual cash payments, using the WACC at inception date for the Group.

The Group has also recognised a corresponding Patent Licence Obligation in the statement of financial position. The licence obligation is subject to an interest charge each 
year, based on the WACC, which is initially recorded under finance expense in the statement of comprehensive income and the corresponding entry increases the patent 
licence obligations. The payments made by the Group under the licence are set against the outstanding patent licence obligation.

The value of the IP Rights is being amortised over the expected life of the contractual payments under the various licences.

	› For the first licence, the value of the IP Rights is amortised over a 7 year period on a straight-line basis.

	› The second licence contains a mandatory ongoing minimum royalty payment (“MRP”) that escalates each year for the first nine years of the licence and does not rely on 
product sales made by the Group and that utilise the underlying IPR. The directors estimate that the remaining life of the IP as at the date of entering into the licence is 16 
years and have therefore used the schedule of mandatory cash payments over this 16 year period to calculate the present value of the IPR. Due to the escalating nature of 
the MRPs over the first nine years, the rate of amortisation during this period has been matched against the discounted value of the payments for the first nine years, 
following which the balance of the intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining seven years.

Capitalisation of the interest and amortisation
The development work carried out by the Group is focused on delivering new products. As at 30 June 2022, the Group had not made product sales, and so it operated a 
capitalisation policy of the costs incurred in the development of these products. The development work relies on the IPR from these two licences and so where the IP can be 
attributed to a particular product, the interest on the patent licence obligations under IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ and the amortisation of the IP Rights recognised under IAS 38 
‘Intangible Assets’ have been capitalised as an internally generated intangible asset called Development Battery Cells, see below.

The directors estimate that 50% of the recognised costs of the first licence and 100% of the costs of the second licence are attributable to development work on products and 
therefore have been capitalised.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.6 Intangible assets other than goodwill continued
Intangible Assets – Development Battery Cells
Since 1 April 2018, the Group has adopted a policy whereby expenditure incurred by it in the development of its own product range of battery cells is capitalised as intangible 
assets if the Group can establish that the product programmes meet the relevant conditions. Such development expenditure is deferred to future periods where the following 
six conditions have been met:

(a) there is a clearly defined project;

(b) the related expenditure is separately identifiable;

(c) the outcome of such a project has been assessed with reasonable certainty as to:

 (i) its technical feasibility; and

 (ii)  its ultimate commercial viability considered in the light of factors such as likely market conditions (including competing products), public opinion, consumer and 
environmental legislation.

(d)  the aggregate of the deferred development costs, any further development costs, and related production, selling and administration costs is reasonably expected to be 
exceeded by related future sales or other revenues;

(e)  adequate resources exist, or are reasonably expected to be available, to enable the project to be completed and to provide any consequential increases in working 
capital; and

(f) the Group has the intention to complete the intangible assets and use or sell it.

The directors believe that the above conditions have been met for four of its product programmes and it has therefore capitalised the expenditure in the statement of 
financial position.

The amortisation of the intangible assets commences with the first commercial production and sales of the products and will be allocated on a systematic basis to each 
accounting period, by reference to either the sale or use of the product or the period over which these are expected to be sold or used.

The aggregate value of the deferred development expenditure for each product is reviewed at the end of each accounting period and where the circumstances which have 
justified the deferral of the expenditure set out above no longer apply, or are considered doubtful, the expenditure, to the extent to which it is considered to be irrecoverable, 
the deferred expenditure is impaired.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.7  Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the following bases:

Leasehold improvements  7 - 15 years

Fixtures and fittings  10 - 20 years

Plant and equipment  3 - 20 years

Right of use asset - Dilapidations Over the period of the lease 

Right of use asset - Buildings Over the period of the lease

Right of use asset - Equipment 7 - 15 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is recognised in the 
income statement.

1.8 Non-current investments 
Interests in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
The investments are assessed for impairment at each reporting date and any impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the parent company. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

An associate is an entity, being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, in which the group holds a long-term interest and has significant influence. The group considers that it 
has significant influence where it has the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the associate.

In accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’, the Group has designated the 19.5% investment in MEP Technologies Limited at fair value though profit or loss. As the company is 
small, unlisted, and has been active for only a short period, there is no readily available observable market value in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair value Measurement’.

Entities in which the group has a long term interest and shares control under a contractual arrangement are classified as jointly controlled entities.

Investments in long term cash deposits, which do not meet the IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ definition of readily available, are included within investments at amortised cost.

1.9 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
At each reporting end date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2022 63

Financial statements 1 3 42



Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.9 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets continued
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or 
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.10 Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour 
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Inventories held for distribution at no or nominal consideration are measured at the lower of cost and replacement cost, adjusted where applicable for any loss of service potential.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

1.12 Financial assets 
Financial assets are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets 
are classified into specified categories, depending on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and the entity’s business model for managing financial assets and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

At initial recognition, financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value and any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. 
Financial assets not classified as fair value through profit and loss are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
When any of the above-mentioned conditions for classification of financial assets is not met, a financial asset is classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value and any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. A 
gain or loss on a financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss, and is included within finance income or finance costs in the 
statement of income for the reporting period in which it arises.

Financial assets held at amortised cost 
Financial instruments are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost where the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and 
the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (eg trade receivables). 
They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment where necessary. All financial assets are reviewed for their corresponding estimated credit losses and considered 
in respect of their credit risk profile. As such, an estimated credit loss provision is recognised either in accordance with stage one, two or three criteria.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.12 Financial assets continued
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the 
estimate future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Derecognition of financial assets 
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to another entity.

1.13 Financial liabilities
The Group recognises financial debt when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial liabilities are classified as either ‘financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss when the financial liability is held for trading. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

	› it has been incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, or

	› on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking, or

	› it is a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of the financial liability. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For the purposes of each financial 
liability, interest expense includes initial transaction costs and any premium payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled, or they expire.

1.14 Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the parent company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as 
liabilities once they are no longer payable at the discretion of the company.

1.15 Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting end date. 
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the 
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is 
presented as a non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. 
Other derivatives are classified as current.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.16 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income 
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date.

As well as receiving RDEC, the Group also receives R&D tax credits on the development expenditure it makes on the commercial projects it undertakes. These credits are paid 
by HM Revenue & Customs to the Group following the year end.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred 
tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority.

1.17 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle 
that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.18 Employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or 
non-current assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide 
termination benefits.

1.19 Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.20 Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted using the Black-Scholes 
model. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the estimate of shares that will eventually vest. A 
corresponding adjustment is made to equity.

The Group also enters into arrangements that are equity-settled, share-based payments with certain employees (including directors) in the form of share options.

During the period covered by these financial statements, the Group operated a HM Revenue & Customs approved share option scheme. This scheme is an Enterprise 
Management Investment scheme where equity options are made to certain qualifying employees to reward and incentivise them. The equity share based payments are 
measured at the fair value of the equity at the given date.

The scheme is open to all qualifying employees who are an employee within the Group, spend at least 75% of their time or 25 hours working for the Group and hold no more 
than 30% of the business. The options, have a ten-year exercise period from the date of grant and vest on the following terms:

	› 25% of the options awarded become ‘vested’ one year after the date of grant,

	› 2.08% of the options awarded become ‘vested’ for each subsequent month in employment.

Employees who leave the business are entitled to exercise their vested options for a period of 40 days after they leave the employment of the Group if they are a good leaver, 
and for a period of 20 days after they leave the employment of the Group if they are not a good leaver.

The Group also enters into warrants granted to a third party as part of a fundraising round, with the exercise price set at the price of the round. Warrants are recognised as a 
component of equity and are therefore accounted for consistently with share based payments as shown above. As such, the fair value determined at the grant date is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the estimate of shares that will eventually vest. A corresponding adjustment is made to equity.

1.21 Leases
At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease within the scope of IFRS 16. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Where a tangible asset is acquired through a lease, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. Right-of-use assets are included within property, plant and equipment, apart from those that meet the 
definition of investment property.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date plus any initial direct costs and an estimate of the cost of obligations to dismantle, remove, refurbish or restore the underlying asset and the site on 
which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use 
asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of other property, plant and equipment. The 
right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are unpaid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The Group has applied the weighted average incremental borrowing rate achieved 
by it at the date of inception of the lease therefore 10.6% (2021 - 9.3%) to the lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 to calculate the finance expense, and it has applied the 
Group’s weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) of 14.5% to the patent licence obligations.

AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2022 67

Financial statements 1 3 42
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1 Accounting policies continued
1.21 Leases continued
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected 
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, and the cost of any options that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, such as the exercise price under a purchase 
option, lease payments in an optional renewal period, or penalties for early termination of a lease.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in: future lease payments arising from a change 
in an index or rate; the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; or the Group’s assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less, or for leases of 
low-value assets including IT equipment. The payments associated with these leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.22 Grants
Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received or receivable when there is reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the 
grants will be received.

A grant that specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance conditions are met. Where a grant does not specify performance conditions it 
is recognised in income when the proceeds are received or receivable. A grant received before the recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability.

The Group has received additional grant payments against the capital expenditure it has incurred. These grant payments have been recognised as deferred income in the 
statement of financial position and then amortised over the life of the capital assets purchased in line with the depreciation policy. The amortised income is recorded in other 
income.

The Group claims R&D Expenditure Credit (‘RDEC’) on the costs it incurs in its grant funded projects. RDEC is considered taxable income and therefore the Group records the 
RDEC under Other income in the statement of comprehensive income, and the associated tax charge levied against this income is recorded in the taxation line. The income is 
recognised on the performance model under IAS 20 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures’.

1.23 Foreign exchange
Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting end date, monetary 
assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains and losses arising on translation in 
the period are included in profit or loss.

1.24 Parent company
The above accounting policies are applied in the parent company financial statements consistently with the group financial statements.
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2 Adoption of new and revised standards and changes in accounting policies
The current standards, amendments and interpretations have been adopted in the year and have not had a material impact on the reported results in the company’s 
financial statements:

	› Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

	› Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

	› Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

	› Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest rate benchmark reform

The adoption of the following mentioned standards, amendments and interpretations in future years:
Effective date – period 

beginning on or after

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use: amendments to IAS 16 1 January 2022*
Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract – amendments to IAS 37 1 January 2022*
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 1 January 2022*
Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) 1 January 2022*
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) 1 January 2023*
Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) 1 January 2023*
Disclosure of Accounting policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 1 January 2023*
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1) and Deferral of Effective Date Amendment 1 January 2024*
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023*
Amendments to IFRS 17 1 January 2023*
Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9—Comparative Information 1 January 2023*

* These standards, amendments and interpretations have not yet been endorsed by the UK and the dates shown are the expected dates.

The directors have undertaken a project to review the above standards, amendments and interpretations. Management do not expect these standards to materially impact 
the financial statements.

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, 
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are outlined below.
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3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued
Critical judgements
Capitalisation of costs related to the development of the Group’s own product base
The Group has a number of product development programmes underway aimed at the advancement of its own product base. Time and costs are tracked through the Group’s 
reporting and accounting systems, however applying the criteria for whether these costs meet the criteria for capitalisation represents a key judgement. Management has 
established that four of these programmes met the threshold criteria such that the development work will result in future economic benefits to the Group and thus the 
associated costs, including the interest and amortisation from IPR licences agreements, can be capitalised into the Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells). The 
directors expect that in the future, more product programmes will meet the criteria and therefore lead to future costs being capitalised.

The Group does not capitalise the development costs related to commercial contracts that create new products for customers.

Recoverability of Intangible Assets (Battery Cells)
During the year, the directors considered the recoverability of the Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells), which are included in its balance sheet at £11.7m (2021: £8.1m), 
and the associated deferred income. The product programmes that have incurred the capitalised costs and accompanying deferred income are not yet resulting in product 
sales and so have not been amortised or recognised. The Group expects to capitalise additional development costs incurred during the year, and to defer certain income 
received during the period aligned to this expenditure. The directors carried out an assessment of the future expected sales, which is based on the ongoing interest shown by 
potential customers for the proposed products; this assumption of sales levels therefore represents a key estimate as an input and are satisfied that the assets do not need to 
be impaired.

Amortisation of Intangible Assets (IP Rights)
The Group is benefiting from its access to the IP Rights secured through its licences and has established an amortisation schedule as calculated under IAS 38. For one key 
licence the directors have opted to amortise the value over the duration of the contractual payment schedule, being 7 years. For the other key licence which has an open-
ended payment schedule, the useful life was determined to be consistent with the duration of the underlying IP patent, which had 16 years remaining at the outset of the 
licence intangible recognition. The useful life of both contracts represents a key judgement on the part of the Directors.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Incremental borrowing rates applied to calculate lease liabilities and patent licence obligations
The Group has used the incremental borrowing rate of 10.6% to calculate the value of the lease liabilities relating to its property obligations, provision for dilapidations and its 
equipment leasing programmes. This is the weighted average value of the equipment leases and other borrowing costs it has arranged to date. The directors believe that the 
underlying assets have the potential to be funded by third parties and so it is appropriate to use the average rate that it has secured to date.

At the time of inception of the IP Rights contract, the Group had a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) of 14.5%; accordingly this was used to assess the value of its IP 
Rights and the corresponding licence obligations on the basis that the payments under these licences will be funded by the Group itself, and so it is appropriate to apply the 
cost to the business of raising funds.

Both inputs are key accounting estimates which the Directors have arrived at from a review of internal and external data. The outcome of these inputs on the carrying 
amounts of such liabilities are disclosed within notes 26 and 27.
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4 Turnover
IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief 
operating decision maker, based on information used to allocate the Group’s resources. The information as presented to internal management is consistent with the 
statement of comprehensive income.

It has been determined that there is one operating segment, the development of battery cells, and accordingly no segmental analysis is presented on the basis that this 
would replicate the Income Statement.

In the periods covered in the financial statements, the Group operated mainly in the United Kingdom. All non- current assets are located in the United Kingdom. The Group 
does not have any goodwill to allocate to its operating segment.

2022 2021
£ £

Turnover analysed by class of business
Revenue 238,084 687,287
Grant income 1,955,675 1,280,061

2,193,759 1,967,348

30 June 15 Months Ended
2022 2021

£ £

Turnover analysed by geographical market
United Kingdom 2,059,186 1,868,347
Rest of the World 134,573 99,001

2,193,759 1,967,348

30 June 15 Months Ended
2022 2021

£ £

Other significant revenue
Grants other than in respect of core revenue 28,514 28,564
Research and development expenditure credit 212,864 172,334
Shared costs recharged 236,652 260,498

478,030 461,396
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4 Turnover continued
During the year three customers each accounted for over 10% of revenue, relating to commercial contracts, these customers accounted for £110,690, £30,000 and £25,000 
(2021: £446,442 in total). All commercial contract revenues have arisen from contracts with customers, and has been disaggregated to provide revenue amounts for material 
categories in accordance with the disclosure requirements of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. Although government grant income is not typically accounted 
for under IFRS 15, this has been presented within revenue as the Group’s business model anticipates significant revenues from such grants in its current business lifecycle phase.

The Group deferred income of £311,569 (2021: £430,155) against product development costs that were capitalised. Such income is recognised on the performance model under 
IAS 20 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures’. An analysis of the movements on deferred grant income is given in note 29.

The Group claimed RDEC in the year, which is considered taxable income and recognised within other operating income. An associated tax charge is recorded in the 
taxation line.

5 Operating loss
2022 2021

£ £

Operating loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Exchange gains (24,643) (10,207)
Research and development costs 2,257,078 1,601,716
Government grants (241,378) (200,898)
Depreciation of tangible assets held under leases 174,887 174,887
Depreciation of owned tangible assets 222,598 153,650
Amortisation of intangible assets (before capitalisation of amortisation) 532,821 455,417
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 638,630 328,503
Share-based payments 50,530 979,387

The operating loss for the year ended 30 June 2022 included R&D expenditure credits of £212,864 (2021 - £172,334) (see note 4 - other significant revenue).
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6 Alternative performance measures
Calculation of adjusted EBITDA
In reporting EBITDA, the Directors use an adjusted EBITDA metric to better reflect the performance of the business. This metric is calculated as follows:

2022 2021
£ £

Operating loss (5,756,350) (3,590,992)
Add back:
Equity settled share based payment expense 50,530 979,387
Amortisation of intangible assets 152,553 140,561
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 397,485 328,537
Deduct:
Payment of licence obligations (908,000) (723,615)
Payment of liabilities for property right-of-use assets (172,500) (189,237)

EBITDA (Adjusted) (6,236,282) (3,055,359)

The Directors have opted to include the following cash payments as they believe that this better reflects a key performance indicator focused on the operating performance of 
the Group. The cash payments are: payments for the licence obligations which is effectively the annual payment for the use of the licences set out in Note 27; and the payments 
for the right-of-use property assets reflects the rental payments made for the use of these assets reflected in the balance sheet as an asset and liability, see Note 26.

7 Auditor’s remuneration 
2022 2021

£ £

Fees payable to the company’s auditor and associates:
For audit services
Audit of the financial statements of the group and company 68,000 61,500

For other services
Other services 5,450 291,300
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8 Employees continued
The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the Group during the year was:

2022 2021
Number Number

Directors 6 6
Administration 19 16
Production 50 43

Total 75 65

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Year Ended 15 Months Ended
30 June 2022 30 June 2021

£ £

Wages and salaries 3,795,769 2,580,008
Social security costs 417,768 290,966
Pension costs 92,090 64,841
Equity settled share based payment costs 50,530 979,387

Gross employment costs 4,356,157 3,915,202
Less staff costs capitalised as part of development expenditure (637,755) (337,131)

Net employment related costs 3,718,402 3,578,071

9 Directors’ remuneration 
2022 2021

£ £

Remuneration for qualifying services 382,141 292,628
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 7,578 6,413

389,719 299,041

Included in the above is an amount of £nil (2021 - £38,667) relating to directors remuneration settled on behalf of the group by a related party.
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9 Directors’ remuneration continued
Remuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid to the highest paid director:

2022 2021
£ £

Remuneration for qualifying services 115,000 107,500
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 3,450 3,225

118,450 110,725

During the year to 30 June 2022 the Directors received remuneration as follows:
Salary Bonus Benefits in kind Pension Total

Director £ £ £ £ £

Mr D Morgan 50,000 — — — 50,000
Mr J Hobson 89,538 — — 1,800 91,338
Mr K Brundish 115,000 — — 3,450 118,450
Mr A Westcott (resigned 17 November 2021) 52,603 — — 1,578 54,181
Non-Executive
The Rt Hon. Viscount Thurso, PC 25,000 — — — 25,000
Mr A Park 25,000 — — — 25,000
Ms A Levett 25,000 — — 750 25,750

Total 382,141 — — 7,578 389,719

During  the year to 30 June 2021 the Directors received remuneration as follows:
Salary Bonus Benefits in kind Pension Total

Director £ £ £ £ £

Mr D Morgan 36,667 — — — 36,667
Mr N Briers (resigned 16 December 2020) 6,000 — — — 6,000
Mr P Tillett (resigned 16 December 2020) 45,000 — — 1,350 46,350
Mr K Brundish 107,500 — — 3,225 110,725
Mr A Westcott (appointed 16 December 2020) 55,000 — — 1,650 56,650
Non-Executive
The Rt Hon. Viscount Thurso, PC 16,333 — — — 16,333
Mr A Park 16,333 — — — 16,333
Ms A Levett (appointed 14 January 2021) 9,795 — — 188 9,983

Total 292,628 — — 6,413 299,041
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9 Directors’ remuneration continued
Directors’ share options

Number of options
Date Granted Option price 30 June 2021 Exercised 30 June 2022

Mr A Westcott (resigned 17 November 2021)
18 October 2018 £0.63 108,671 (108,671) —
01 May 2020 £0.73 247,417 (247,417) —
16 December 2020 £0.73 200,500 (200,500) —

Mr K Brundish
16 December 2020 £0.73 78,195 — 78,195

Total Directors' share options 634,783 556,588 78,195

Full share- based payment disclosures are provided in note 31.
During the year the company did not declare any dividends and accordingly the Directors of the Group received £nil dividends (2021: £nil).

10 Investment income

2022 2021
£ £

Interest income
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost:
Bank deposits 7,345 3,952

11 Finance costs

2022 2021
£ £

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 2,969 6,696
Interest on licence and lease liabilities 237,422 229,474
Other interest payable — 1,207

Total interest expense 240,391 237,377
Unwinding of discount on provisions 845 773
Gain/(loss) on hedging instrument in a fair value hedge (7,929) 7,743

233,307 245,893

Borrowing costs have been excluded from interest payable and included in the cost of assets during the current year and comparative period. Details of amounts capitalised 
as part of the cost of intangible assets are given in note 15.
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12 Other gains and losses

2022 2021
£ £

Change in value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (14,547) 23,624

13 Income tax expense
2022 2021

£ £

Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the current period (166,213) (91,852)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 7,464 (12,942)

Total UK current tax (158,749) (104,794)
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13 Income tax expense continued
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows:

2022 2021
£ £

Loss before taxation (5,996,859) (3,809,309)

Expected tax credit based on a corporation tax rate of 19.00% (2021: 19.00%) (1,139,403) (723,769)
Effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit 10,360 11,264
Income not taxable (5,418) (41,972)
Unutilised tax losses carried forward 978,033 782,102
Effect of change in UK corporation tax rate — 2,693
Depreciation on assets not qualifying for tax allowances 8,861 8,183
Research and development tax credit (48,477) (135,464)
Effect of revaluations of investments 2,764 (4,489)
Share based payment charge 9,601 (9,408)
Under/(over) provided in prior years 7,464 (12,942)
IFRS transition — (8,854)
Other 17,466 27,862

Taxation credit for the year (158,749) (104,794)

RDEC is recognised as Other operating income in the Income Statement and has therefore been included in the calculations for operating loss. RDEC totals £212,864 for the 
year ended 30 June 2022 (see note 4 – Other Significant Income).

The UK corporation tax rate was 19% throughout the year.

UK budget on 3 March 2021 announced the intention to increase the tax rate from the current rate of 19% to 25%, with effect from April 2023. Therefore, deferred tax balances at 
the reporting date are measured at 25% (2021 - 25%).

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are offset on the grounds that these unwind against each other and are with the same tax authority. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised on losses to the extent that these cancel out net liabilities arising on other timing differences only. The total value of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities as at 30 June 2022 is £793,910 (2021 - £551,543).
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14 Earnings per share
Year Ended Year Ended

30 June 2022 30 June 2021
£ £

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 35,755,700 29,422,110

In the current and comparative year the Group has incurred losses and as such has not presented any dilutive shares in accordance with IAS 33 ‘Earnings per share’. However, the 
Group does have a number of share options and warrants that would dilute the earnings per share should the Group become profitable, details of which are given in note 31.

Earnings (all attributable to equity shareholders of the company)
Continuing operations
Loss for the period from continued operations (5,838,110) (3,704,515)

Earnings per share for continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (pence per share) (16.33) (12.59)
Diluted earnings per share (pence per share) (16.33) (12.59)
Basic earnings per share
From continuing operations (16.33) (12.59)

Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted EBITDA (note 6) (6,236,282) (3,055,359)
Adjusted earnings per share (pence per share) (17.44) (10.38)

All earnings per share are derived from continuing operations.
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15 Intangible assets

IP Rights
Development 
Battery Cells Total

Group £ £ £

Cost
At 1 July 2020 13,670,272 5,058,804 18,729,076
Additions - borrowing costs — 2,036,460 2,036,460
Additions - amortisation capitalised — 314,855 314,855
Additions - internal costs — 712,215 712,215
Additions - inception of license 328,858 — 328,858

At 30 June 2021 13,999,130 8,122,334 22,121,464
Additions - borrowing costs — 2,257,276 2,257,276
Additions - amortisation capitalised — 380,268 380,268
Additions - internal costs — 964,481 964,481

At 30 June 2022 13,999,130 11,724,359 25,723,489

Amortisation and impairment  
At 1 July 2020 667,938 — 667,938
Charge for the year - capitalised 314,855 — 314,855
Charge for the year - expensed 140,562 — 140,562

At 30 June 2021 1,123,355 — 1,123,355
Charge for the year - capitalised 380,268 — 380,268
Charge for the year - expensed 152,553 — 152,553

At 30 June 2022 1,656,176 — 1,656,176

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 12,342,954 11,724,359 24,067,313

At 30 June 2021 12,875,775 8,122,334 20,998,109

The Group capitalised the development costs relating to the products it is developing, in line with IAS 38, however it has not yet amortised the costs. The Group also records 
the value of the IP Rights it holds through licences. The amortisation of the IP Rights and the interest arising from the licence obligations has been capitalised into the 
Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells) whilst the battery cells are being developed.

The Group also secured certain grant income to cover a portion of the development costs, and this grant income has been recognised as deferred income. As of the end of 
this period, no amortisation of the Intangible Assets (Development Battery Cells) has taken place.
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16 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold
 improvements

Fixtures 
and fittings

Plant 
and equipment

Right of use 
asset -

 Dilapidations

Right of use 
asset

- Buildings

Right of use 
asset - 

equipment Total
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 July 2020 36,828 36,394 8,493,208 161,058 1,022,290 219,641 9,969,419
Additions — — 252,174 — — — 252,174
Transfers between classes 12,760 — (12,760) — — — —

At 30 June 2021 49,588 36,394 8,732,622 161,058 1,022,290 219,641 10,221,593
Additions — 7,333 400,021 — — 116,845 524,199

At 30 June 2022 49,588 43,727 9,132,643 161,058 1,022,290 336,486 10,745,792

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2020 1,875 5,869 7,393,335 154,895 58,622 43,021 7,657,617
Charge for the year 4,958 2,673 146,019 2,958 138,423 33,506 328,537
Transfers between classes 3,568 — (3,568) — — — —

At 30 June 2021 10,401 8,542 7,535,786 157,853 197,045 76,527 7,986,154
Charge for the year 4,959 2,851 214,788 2,958 138,423 33,506 397,485

At 30 June 2022 15,360 11,393 7,750,574 160,811 335,468 110,033 8,383,639

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 34,228 32,334 1,382,069 247 686,822 226,453 2,362,153

At 30 June 2021 39,187 27,852 1,196,836 3,205 825,245 143,114 2,235,439

The Group has lease contracts for buildings and equipment used in its operations, which have the following lease terms:

	› Leased equipment has terms of between 3 and 5 years; and

	› Property leases have terms of under 3 years in the case of office spaces near Oxford and for 10 years for manufacturing facility in Thurso.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term 
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and typically account for low-value assets including IT equipment and small items of office furniture.
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17 Investments 
Current Non-current

2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £

Investments held at amortised cost 2,000,000 — – –

Other investments — — 9,079 23,626

2,000,000 — 9,079 23,626

Fair value of financial assets carried at amortised cost 
Except as detailed below, the directors believe that the carrying amounts of financial assets carried at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

Movements in non-current investments
Investments

£

Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2021 23,626
Valuation changes (14,547)

At 30 June 2022 9,079

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 9,079

At 30 June 2021 23,626

Investments represent a 19.5% investment in Ordinary share capital of MEP Technologies Limited, a company incorporated in Scotland, and a 50% investment in Bardan Cells 
Ltd, a company incorporated in Australia.

In accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’, the Group has designated the 19.5% investment in MEP Technologies Limited at fair value though profit or loss. As the 
company is small, unlisted, and has been active for only a short period, there is no readily available observable market value in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair value 
Measurement’. As such the Directors have recognised at fair value movement calculated in accordance with equity accounting rules, which would have applied had the 
Group owned 20% or more of MEP Technologies Limited, The Directors do not believe that this gives rise to a significantly different outcome to fair value.

During the year, the Group announced the signing of a shareholder agreement to formalise joint venture with InfraNomics in Australia, targeting the energy storage sector. The 
joint venture, called Bardan Cells, operates from Australia’s “Lithium Valley” Kwinana Industrial Area, and has plans to build and fund a 200,000 cell micro production line as a 
forerunner to establishing a 1-2GWh per annum Gigafactory.

Investments held at amortised cost relate to cash on deposit which carries a 365 day maturity.
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18 Joint ventures
Details of the Group’s joint ventures at 30 June 2022 are as follows:

Name of undertaking Country of incorporation Principal activities
Interest 

held
% Held 
Direct

Bardan Cells Ltd Australia Cell mico production  Ordinary 50.00

19 Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2022 are as follows:

Class of % Held
Name of undertaking Country of incorporation Principal activities shares held Direct

AMTE Technology Limited England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary 100.00
AGM Batteries Limited England and Wales Development of emerging battery cell technologies Ordinary 100.00

All subsidiaries listed above have a registered office address of Suite 1, 3rd Floor, 11-12 St James’s Square, London, SW1Y 4LB.

AMTE Technology Limited is currently a dormant entity and has been since incorporation in March 2018.

20 Inventories
2022 2021

£ £

Raw materials and work in progress 714,668 280,666

21 Trade and other receivables 
2022 2021

£ £

Trade receivables 162,724 254,138
VAT recoverable 584,141 132,924
Accrued revenue and other receivables 1,256,532 1,169,491
Prepayments 159,776 266,952

2,163,173 1,823,505
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22 Trade receivables - credit risk
Fair value of trade receivables
The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value.

Expected credit loss assessment

Balance Loss allowance
Trade receivables 2022 £ £

Current 106,583 —
More than 30 days past due 25,205 —
More than 60 days past due 6,142 —
More than 120 days past due 24,794 —

162,724 —

Balance Loss allowance
Trade receivables 2021 £ £

Current 106,798 —
More than 30 days past due 73,959 —
More than 60 days past due 73,381 —

254,138 —

Trade receivables at the reporting date are shown above net of provisions. Expected lifetime credit losses have been estimated in accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial 
Instruments’ across the entire population of trade receivables, all of which have been recognised as a result of contracts with customers as defined in IFRS 15, with no material 
financing element embedded within these contracts. The Group also recognised revenues from government grants, but such funds are typically received in advance or 
accrued as income, and as such do not come under the heading of trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses that comprise the irrecoverable amounts, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, typically 
limited to the number of days past due. The expected loss rates are then applied to this ageing profile using the simplified approach to expected credit losses as prescribed 
by IFRS 9, which permits the Group to use a provision matrix to measure the lifetime expected losses. These losses are based on historical loss rates for similar aged debts, 
assuming that these are representative of the days past due. These historical rates are adjusted, where appropriate, to reflect the current and forward-looking information 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables, unless a receivable is already provided for in full as a specific credit loss. At the current and comparative 
period end, based on the low value of total trade receivables and a good history of no default, the Group has not recognised any specific credit loss or expected credit loss 
as such amounts have been determined to be immaterial to the financial statements. The Directors consider the credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither 
past due nor impaired to be good.

No significant receivable balances are impaired at the reporting end date.
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23 Borrowings
Current Non-current

2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £

Borrowings held at amortised cost:
Other loans 30,522 20,365 45,681 75,636

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group secured loans for £50,000 on favourable terms (3%) that were below market rates. In the period ended 30 June 2020, the Group 
secured further loans for £100,000 at below market rates (2.5% - 3%).

24 Financial risk management
Foreign exchange risk
The Group has limited exposure to transactional foreign currency risk from trading transactions. The Group considers the need to mitigate this exposure as and when 
appropriate and will enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate any significant risks. The Group also seeks to issue invoices to customers based in Europe 
or USA in the respective currencies to provide a natural hedge against a small portion of the Group’s overall costs.

The Group had no forward contracts in place at the year end.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of interest rates. The Group reviews its risk management strategy on a regular basis and if appropriate it will enter into 
derivative financial instruments in order to manage interest rate risk. At present, the Group does not have any financial leases that have a floating interest rate, however 
should it take on such facilities where this is the case, then it will review the risk exposure it has.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other 
financial assets. The ability to do this relies on the Group expanding its customer base, collecting its trade receivables, completing financings in a timely manner and by 
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents on hand.

The Group monitors its payables on a periodic basis and uses the credit terms to manage the timing of payments to suppliers.

AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2022 85

Financial statements 1 3 42



Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

24 Financial risk management continued
The following tables show the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

Total Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years Over 5 years
2022 £ £ £ £

Trade and other payables 1,308,688 1,308,688 — —
Accrued liabilities 913,420 913,420 — —
Borrowings 76,203 30,522 45,681 —
Lease liabilities 981,235 203,052 778,183 —
IP Rights licence obligations 18,354,094 985,705 7,332,680 10,035,709
Dilapidations provision 209,927 9,927 — 200,000

21,843,567 3,451,314 8,156,544 10,235,709

Total Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years Over 5 years
2021 £ £ £ £

Trade and other payables 625,833 625,833 — —
Accrued liabilities 331,707 331,707 — —
Borrowings 96,001 20,365 75,636 —
Lease liabilities 1,000,918 147,453 418,972 434,493
IP Rights licence obligations 16,864,548 676,191 6,442,214 9,746,143
Dilapidations provision 209,082 — — 209,082

19,128,089 1,801,549 6,936,822 10,389,718
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24 Financial risk management continued
Market risk
Due to the development nature of the contracts and product programmes that the Group enters into, currently it is not materially exposed to a market directly. However, its 
products are focused on meeting certain current or expected requirements of individual markets, and these requirements could evolve before the Group is able to complete 
its product development programme(s).

The Group periodically reviews the markets, and demands expected of products, to minimise the risk to its business. It is also reviewing new markets to identify future demand 
outside of the initial intended markets.

Once the Group has released products, then it will carry out an assessment of the market risk it is exposed to and will carry out sensitivity analysis on the impact that each risk 
will have on the product(s)’ performance and the wider impact on the Group’s income statement and its financial position.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract 
assets.

On an ongoing basis, trade receivable balances attributable to each customer are monitored and appropriate action is taken to follow up on those balances when they are 
considered overdue. In a limited number of customer contracts, an initial payment is secured which helps to mitigate the overall credit risk of a project.

Although the Group has its own terms and conditions with a 30-day payment expectation, under some contracts it accepts longer terms with suitable customers. Should a 
trade debtor exceed the payment terms, then the Group engages to ensure swift payment. Due to the development nature of the contract, any payments that continue to be 
delayed may result on discussions over the delivery of the rest of the project. Should there be no engagement from the customer for a period of time then a provision is made 
for the amount outstanding.

The maximum exposure to loss arising from trade accounts receivable is equal to their total carrying value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

2022 2021
£ £

Cash on deposit (External credit ratings Baa1 from Moodys) 906,917 9,272,416
Investments 2,000,000 —
Trade receivables (note 22) 162,724 254,138
Loss allowance — —
Other receivables 1,256,532 1,169,491

4,326,173 10,696,045

AMTE Power plc | Annual report and accounts 2022 87

Financial statements 1 3 42



Notes to the Group financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

24 Financial risk management continued
Credit risk continued
During the current and prior period, the Group did not make provisions for expected credit losses.

All issued shares are fully paid. The Group considers its capital and reserves attributable to equity shareholders to be the Company’s capital. In managing its capital, the 
Company’s primary long-term objective is to provide a return for its shareholders through capital growth. Going forward the Group will seek to maintain a gearing ratio that 
balances risks and returns at an acceptable level and to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the Group to meet its working capital needs.

The Group’s commercial activities are at an early stage and management considers that no useful target debt to equity gearing ratio can be identified at this time.

25 Trade and other payables
2022 2021

£ £

Trade payables 1,031,157 487,294
Accruals 913,420 331,707
Social security and other taxation 272,995 117,659
Other payables 4,536 20,880

2,222,108 957,540

26 Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities include both licence obligations and lease obligations for right of use property as well as equipment under hire purchase agreement

2022 2021
Maturity analysis of right of use property and equipment £ £

Within one year 289,385 234,699
In two to five years 647,479 647,715
In over five years 362,500 507,500

Total undiscounted liabilities 1,299,364 1,389,914
Future finance charges and other adjustments (318,129) (388,996)

Lease liabilities relating to right of use property and equipment in the financial statements 981,235 1,000,918
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26 Lease liabilities continued
2022 2021

£ £

Current liabilities 203,052 147,453
Non-current liabilities 778,183 853,465

981,235 1,000,918

2022 2021
Amounts recognised in profit or loss include the following: £ £

Interest on lease liabilities 237,422 229,474

The value of the property leases is depreciated over the contractual life of the lease on a straight line basis. 

Liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

	› fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; and

	› variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the 
company, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

	› where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party 
financing was received; and

	› makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect, as 
well as to rate reviews. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability will be reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use 
asset. Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Lease liabilities are secured upon the assets in which they relate to.

27 Licence liabilities
2022 2021

£ £

Current liabilities 985,704 676,191
Non-current liabilities 17,368,390 16,188,357

18,354,094 16,864,548
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27 Licence liabilities continued
In respect of the above liabilities, £2,257,276 (2021 - £2,036,460) of license interest recognised in the year has been capitalised within development costs. See note 15 for further 
detail.

The licence obligations include the net present value of the following payments:

	› Fees payable by the Group as part of entering into the licences; and

	› Minimum royalty payments that are contractual and do not require product sales.

The payments are discounted using the weighted average cost of capital of the Group.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in royalty payments based on the value of the product sales it makes that use the IP Rights that are the subject of the 
licences. The value of the IP Rights, as an intangible asset, is being amortised. Royalty payments that are above the minimum royalty payments will be recognised in the 
period in which the product income is recognised.

Licence obligation payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is initially charged to profit or loss over the licence period so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the licence obligation for each period.

The value of the property leases is depreciated over the contractual life of the lease on a straight line basis.

28 Provisions for liabilities
2022 2021

£ £

Dilapidations provision 209,927 209,082

Provisions are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after more than 12 months from the reporting date, as follows:

Current liabilities 9,927 —
Non-current liabilities 200,000 209,082

209,927 209,082

Dilapidations provision
Movements on provisions: £

At 1 July 2021 209,082
Additional provisions in the year 845

At 30 June 2022 209,927

The dilapidations provision is recognised in respect of a two property leases of which one is in place through to 2030 and the other expires in August 2022. The provision was 
initially created in respect of an earlier lease and capitalised at present value as part of the cost of the underlying right of use asset, whilst the provision was fully unwound. The 
lease has subsequently been renewed. Due to the unwinding already being recognised, no additional adjustment has been included in respect of the discount or unwinding as 
the Directors do not consider this to be material.
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29 Contracts with customers

2022 2021
£ £

Contracts in progress
Contract assets 1,086,484 786,599
Contract liabilities (2,611,249) (2,328,246)

2022 2021
£ £

Analysis of contract assets
Balance at start of period 786,599 51,879
Increase in contract balances during the period 299,885 734,720

1,086,484 786,599

2022 2021
£ £

Analysis of contract liabilities
Arising from government grants 2,611,249 2,328,246

Deferred revenues are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be recognised as revenue within the next 12 months and after more than 12 months from the 
reporting date, as follows:

2022 2021
£ £

Current liabilities 28,564 28,564
Non-current liabilities 2,582,685 2,299,682

2,611,249 2,328,246

2022 2021
£ £

Balance at start of period 2,328,246 935,732
Additions 311,567 1,011,013
Income recognised in the period (28,564) (20,090)

Balance at end of period 2,611,249 2,328,246

Further explanation on the deferred grant income is given in note 4.
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30 Retirement benefit schemes

2022 2021
£ £

Defined contribution schemes
Charge to profit or loss in respect of defined contribution schemes 92,090 64,841

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an 
independently administered fund.

At the year end, an amount of £25,281 (2021 - £28,664) was held in social security and other taxation in respect of accrued unpaid pension contributions.

31 Share-based payments

Number of share options Average exercise price
2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £

Outstanding at 1 July 2021 1,843,798 1,615,048 0.68 0.61
Granted in the period 1,270,273 888,215 0.89 0.73
Forfeited in the period (15,000) (80,685) 2.01 0.29
Exercised in the period (743,910) (578,780) 0.71 0.78

Outstanding at 30 June 2022 2,355,161 1,843,798 0.74 0.68

Exercisable at 30 June 2022 1,099,888 1,843,798 0.66 0.68

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was £0.71 (2021 - £0.78).

Options outstanding
The options outstanding at 30 June 2022 had an exercise price ranging from £0.14 to £0.88, and a remaining contractual life of 7.2 years.
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31 Share-based payment transactions continued
Warrants
Warrants have been granted to third parties as part of a fundraising round, with the exercise price set at the price of the round. The warrants were all vested as at the date of grant.

Number of share options Average exercise price
2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £

Outstanding at 1 July 2021 129,483 95,037 0.93 0.63
Granted in the period - 34,446 - 1.75

Outstanding at 30 June 2022 129,483 129,483 0.93 0.93

Exercisable at 30 June 2022 129,483 129,483 0.93 0.93

2022 2021
£ £

Expenses
Related to equity settled share based payments 50,530 979,387

32 Share capital
2022 2021 2022 2021

Ordinary share capital Number Number £ £

Authorised, issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 0.5p each 35,988,580 35,244,670 179,943 176,223
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32 Share capital continued
Reconciliation of movements during the year:

Number

At 1 July 2021 35,244,670
Exercise of share options 743,910

At 30 June 2022 35,988,580

On 23 July 2021 70,977 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £45,718; accordingly a premium of £45,364 has been recognised on this issue 
which represents cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares. The issue also resulted in a transfer from the share option reserve to the share 
premium account of £27,727.

On 1 October 2021 395,787 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £278,057; accordingly a premium of £276,078 has been recognised on this 
issue which represents cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares. The issue also resulted in a transfer from the share option reserve to the share 
premium account of £174,966.

On 15 December 2021 277,146 ordinary shares of 0.5p each were issued for a total cash consideration of £201,870; accordingly a premium of £200,484 has been recognised on 
this issue which represents cash proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of these shares. The issue also resulted in a transfer from the share option reserve to the 
share premium account of £129,001.

33 Share premium account
2022 2021

£ £

At the beginning of the year 20,808,951 8,067,562
Issue of new shares — 13,812,059
Bonus issue of shares — (134,548)
Share capital reduction (21,130,392) —
Share issue expenses — (1,635,756)
Exercise of share options 521,926 699,634

At the end of the year 200,485 20,808,951

During the year the following transactions occurred:

	› A number of share options were exercised, resulting in a credit to share premium of £521,926 (2021 - £699,634). This reflected the fair value determined at grant date of the 
options now exercised, which had previously been held within the share option reserve as well as the consideration received for the exercise above the nominal value.

	› A capital reduction, reflecting a cancellation of the share premium account of the Company effected by a special resolution of the Company dated 17 November 2021 and 
confirmed by the Court, resulting in a reduction in the share premium account of £21,130,392.
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34 Events after the reporting date
Subsequent to the year end on 4 November 2022, the Company authorised the issue of £5,000,000 convertible loan notes (“CLN”). The CLN are to be issued in three tranches 
and as at the time of signing,

£3,000,000 loan notes have been issued through a subscription agreement dated 11 November 2022, using terms agreed on 14 October 2022; the remaining £2,000,000 CLN’s 
can be drawn at least 60 days after the first tranche.

The CLN carry no coupon but are issued at a discount of 8% and are redeemable either in cash at a premium of 15% or via a conversion to ordinary share capital of the 
Company at a 5% discount to specified average recent market prices of those shares, within 2 years of drawdown. The CLN will be carried as a liability in its entirety in the 
financial statements, and will recognise interest at the estimated effective interest rate of 11.8%.

In addition, 1,829,269 warrants have been issued to the CLN holders at zero additional cost. The warrants permit a subscription for a further £1.5m of ordinary shares at a fixed 
price of £0.8204 per share. These warrants can be exercised at any time until the third anniversary. As the grant of warrants is at a significant premium to current market value 
and would be accounted for as equity instruments, they are expected to have a trivial impact on the financial statements.

35 Related party transactions
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel, including directors, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

2022 2021
£ £

Salary and short-term employee benefits 775,969 672,653
Share-based payments 5,200 603,376

781,169 1,276,029

Included in the above is an amount of £nil (2021 - £38,667) relating to directors remuneration settled on behalf of the Group by a related party.

Other transactions with related parties
There were no transactions with related parties for the period. Transactions with MEP Technologies Limited were at market prices as part of the ordinary course of business of 
the two groups.
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36 Intangible assets
Patents & licences Development costs Total

Company £ £ £

Cost
At 30 June 2021 2,176,822 8,122,334 10,299,156
Additions - internally generated — 3,602,025 3,602,025

At 30 June 2022 2,176,822 11,724,359 13,901,181

Amortisation and impairment
At 30 June 2021 822,547 — 822,547
Charge for the year 284,550 — 284,550

At 30 June 2022 1,107,097 — 1,107,097

Carrying amount  

At 30 June 2022 1,069,725 11,724,359 12,794,084

At 30 June 2021 1,354,275 8,122,334 9,476,609

37 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold
 improvements

Fixtures 
and fittings

Plant 
and equipment

Right of use 
asset -

Dilapidations

Right of use 
asset -

 Buildings

Right of use 
asset -

 equipment Total
Company £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 30 June 2021 47,713 30,525 1,341,171 153,169 885,002 176,620 2,634,200
Additions — 7,333 400,021 — — 116,845 524,199

At 30 June 2022 47,713 37,858 1,741,192 153,169 885,002 293,465 3,158,399

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 30 June 2021 8,526 2,673 144,335 153,169 118,000 33,506 460,209
Charge for the year 4,959 2,851 214,788 — 88,500 33,506 344,604

At 30 June 2022 13,485 5,524 359,123 153,169 206,500 67,012 804,813

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 34,228 32,334 1,382,069 — 678,502 226,453 2,353,586

At 30 June 2021 39,187 27,852 1,196,836 — 767,002 143,114 2,173,991
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38 Investments
Current Non-current

2022 2021 2022 2021
£ £ £ £

Investments held at amortised cost 2,000,000 – – –
Investments in subsidiaries – – 3,044,074 3,044,074

Other investments – – 9,079 23,626

2,000,000 – 3,053,153 3,067,700

Fair value of financial assets carried at amortised cost
Except as detailed below the directors believe that the carrying amounts of financial assets carried at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Details of the Company’s principal operating subsidiaries are included in note 19.

Movements in non-current investments
Shares in subsidiaries Other investments Total

£ £ £

Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2021 3,044,074 23,626 3,067,700
Valuation changes — (14,547) (14,547)

At 30 June 2022 3,044,074 9,079 3,053,153

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 3,044,074 9,079 3,053,153

At 30 June 2021 3,044,074 23,626 3,067,700

Other investments represent a 19.5% investment in Ordinary share capital of MEP Technologies Limited a company incorporated in Scotland and a 50% investment in Bardan 
Cells Limited a company incorporated in Australia.

In accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’, the Group has designated the 19.5% investment in MEP Technologies Limited at fair value though profit or loss. As the 
company is small, unlisted, and has been active for only a short period, there is no readily available observable market value in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair value 
Measurement’. As such the Directors have recognised at fair value movement calculated in accordance with equity accounting rules, which would have applied had the 
Group owned 20% or more of MEP Technologies Limited, The Directors do not believe that this gives rise to a significantly different outcome to fair value.

During the year, the Group announced the signing of a shareholder agreement to formalise joint venture with InfraNomics in Australia, targeting the energy storage sector. The 
joint venture, called Bardan Cells, operates from Australia’s “Lithium Valley” Kwinana Industrial Area, and has plans to build and fund a 200,000 cell micro production line as a 
forerunner to establishing a 1-2GWh per annum Gigafactory.
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39 Inventories
2022 2021

Company £ £

Raw materials and work in progress 714,668 280,666

40 Trade and other receivables
2022 2021

Company £ £

Trade receivables 162,724 252,138
VAT recoverable 543,906 81,050
Accrued revenue and other receivables 1,256,532 1,169,491
Prepayments 159,776 266,952

2,122,938 1,769,631

41 Borrowings
Current Non-current

2022 2021 2022 2021
Company £ £ £ £

Borrowings held at amortised cost:
Other loans 30,522 20,365 45,681 75,636

42 Trade and other payables
2022 2021

Company £ £

Trade payables 1,031,157 480,509
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 5,671,427 3,435,665
Accruals 756,998 278,302
Social security and other taxation 272,995 117,659 
Other payables 4,536 20,880

7,737,113 4,333,015

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings carry no interest charges and have no fixed date of repayment.
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43 Lease liabilities
2022 2021

Maturity analysis £ £

Within one year 289,385 186,574
In two to five years 647,479 647,715
In over five years 362,500 507,500

Total undiscounted liabilities 1,299,364 1,341,789
Future finance charges and other adjustments (318,129) (386,964)

Lease liabilities in the financial statements 981,235 954,825

2022 2021
£ £

Current liabilities 203,052 101,360
Non-current liabilities 778,183 853,465

981,235 954,825

44 Licence liabilities
2022 2021

£ £

Current liabilities 335,705 293,192
Non-current liabilities 1,159,951 1,495,656

1,495,656 1,788,848

The fair value of the company’s lease obligations is approximately equal to their carrying amount.
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45 Provisions for liabilities
2022 2021

Company £ £

Dilapidations provision 200,000 200,000

All provisions are expected to be settled after more than 12 months from the reporting date.

Movements on provisions: £

At 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 200,000

The dilapidations provision is recognised in respect of a property lease which is in place through to 2030. The provision was initially created in respect of an earlier lease and 
capitalised at present value as part of the cost of the underlying right of use asset, whilst the provision was fully unwound. The lease has subsequently been renewed. Due to the 
unwinding already being recognised, no additional adjustment has been included in respect of the discount or unwinding as the Directors do not consider this to be material.

46 Deferred revenue
2022 2021

Company £ £

Arising from government grants 2,611,249 2,328,246

Deferred revenues are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after more than 12 months from the reporting date, 
as follows:

2022 2021
£ £

Current liabilities 28,564 28,564
Non-current liabilities 2,582,685 2,299,682

2,611,249 2,328,246
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AMTE Power plc’s commitment to environmental issues is 
reflected in this Annual Report, which has been printed on 
Amadeus Silk, a paper sourced from well managed, responsible, 
FSC certified forests and other controlled sources. The pulp used 
in this product is bleached using an elemental chlorine free (ECF) 
process. The print factory is FSC accredited and has the 
Environmental ISO 14001 accreditation. Printed by Perivan

Electrifying vehicles, 
homes and industries 
for a net zero world.

Powering the  
energy transition
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